Strengthening Community Health Strategy in Kenya through Public Private Partnership –Implementation Research

Inauguraldissertation

zur

Erlangung der Würde eines Doktors der Philosophie

vorgelegt der

Philosophisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät der

Universität Basel

von

Miriam Njoki Karinja

aus

Kenya

Basel, 2021

Originaldokument gespeichert auf dem Dokumentenserver der Universität Basel https://edoc.unibas.ch Genehmigt von der Philosophisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät auf Antrag von Prof. Dr. Marcel Tanner and Prof. Dr. Isaac Nyamongo

Basel, den 26. März 2019

This thesis is dedicated to my parents who have made a lot of sacrifices for us to succeed in life, true educators at heart.

Table of contents

Table of Contents

Acknowledgments 1		
Summary		
List of Abbreviation		
List of figures		
List of tables		
1. Introduction		
1.1. The Kenyan Health system and Community Health Strategy		
1.2. Community Health Worker Program		
1.3. Objective of the thesis		
1.4. References		
 Risk reduction of diarrhea and respiratory infections following a community health education program - a facility-based case-control study in rural parts of Kenya		
2.1. Abstract		
2.2. Background		
2.3. Methods		
2.3.1. Program Implementation		
2.3.2. Study design and setting		
2.3.3. Selection of cases and controls		
2.3.4. Data collection		
2.3.5. Sample size estimation		
2.4. Data analysis		
2.5. Results		
2.6. Discussion		
2.7. Conclusion		
2.8. Abbreviations		
2.9. Declarations		
2.10. References		
3. Care-Seeking Dynamics among Patients with Diabetes Mellitus and Hypertension in Selected Rural Settings in Kenya		
3.1. Abstract		
3.2. Introduction		
3.2. Methods		
3.2.1. Study Design and Setting		

3.2.2. Study Population and Sampling	42
3.2.3. Data Collection and Measurements	42
3.2.4. Statistical Analysis	43
3.2.5. Ethical Approval	43
3.3. Results	43
3.4. Discussion	
3.5. Conclusions	57
3.6. References	58
4. Evaluation of a Community Health Worker Maternal Child Health Improvement Prog from a Baseline Survey	ram- Results 62
4.1. Abstract	63
4.2. Background	64
4.3. Methods	66
4.3.1. Study design	66
4.3.2. Study setting	66
4.3.3. Sample size estimation	67
4.3.4. Sampling technique	67
4.3.5. Measurements	67
4.3.6. Data collection	68
4.3.7. Data Management and Statistical analysis	68
4.3.8. Ethical consideration	68
4.4. Results	69
4.5. Discussion	74
4.6. Conclusion	76
4.7. References	
5. Discussion and conclusion	80

Acknowledgments

My PhD work has been an amazing journey and I would like to thank several people who have guided and supported me to see this work come to a good completion. Firstly, all praise and glory to the almighty God for giving me the strength, good health and protection while I undertook my studies.

I wish to express my very great appreciation to my supervisor Prof Bernhard Ogutu, Cosupervisors Prof Colin Pillai and Dr Raymond Schlinger for their encouragement, valuable input and corrections which have greatly shaped this work. I would also like to appreciate their personal input and mentorship that carried me through the challenging parts of this work. I have learnt a lot under your mentorship which will go a long way in shaping my career as a researcher.

To my dad Josiah Karinja and mum Mary Gathoni; as educators, you laid a strong and solid foundation in my life upon which I can build on to whatever heights. Your love and support carried me through the tough seasons of my PhD and for that, I am eternally grateful. I would also like to thank my siblings AnneRose Wanjiru, Mercy Wangari, Nancy Wangui and Robert Waweru for their unwavering emotional and moral support. You have been my greatest cheering squad and you were always keen to know how I was progressing. To my extended family and friends, thanks for always listening and encouraging me.

To Anthony Gitau, I am grateful for your support especially at the beginning of this work, you introduced me to key people that would make my work a success and helped me put together a good team as part of my PhD journey. I learnt a lot under your leadership and your amazing passion for community health. A special thanks goes to Familia Nawiri, Novartis Social Venture in Kenya, the Center for Research in Therapeutic Sciences (CREATES) at Strathmore University in Nairobi Kenya for your support and providing the funding for this work.

I am extremely grateful to Prof Marcel Tanner for giving me the opportunity to do my PhD at Swiss TPH and also for his guidance and input in this research. I was always assured of your support during my time in Basel and in Kenya which gave me peace of mind that I will see my studies to a good end.

I am very grateful to Christine Mensch, Laura Innocenti and Dagmar Batra for helping me settle in every time I came to Basel and for making my time at the institute comfortable, I truly thankful. I had amazing friendships at the institute; Josephine Malinga, Tessa Oraro, Sellase-Pi Bansa, Betty Nambuusi, Grace Mhalu, Julius Ssempira, Sammy Khagayi, Langelihle Mlotshwa, Corine Karema and Maggy, you made my stay in Basel wonderful and thank you for your friendship. I would also like to thank Villyen Nkengafac for his support and encouragement. Thank you Stephen Njoroge for moral support, I appreciate you.

Finally, but not least I would like to acknowledge Prof Dr Andreas Diacon of Task Applied Science, Stellenbosch University in Cape Town South Africa. You have been an incredible support since the day I joined Task Applied Science. You encouraged me to take the opportunities that came my way including internships, Research fellowships, PhD and always reached out to see I was excelling. I am eternally grateful for this.

Summary

This PhD thesis focuses on three areas namely infectious diseases (diarrheal and respiratory infections), maternal and child health and non-communicable diseases (diabetes mellitus and hypertension) and discusses how community health workers can play a role in improving the health and wellbeing of the people.

In chapter two we evaluated a community health education program that was implemented by private sector with an aim of reducing diarrhea and respiratory infections. Recognizing the highest proportion of outpatient attendance in Kenya is due to preventable diseases especially those related to water, sanitation and hygiene, the program through trained community health educators provided group education sessions at the community level. We used a facility based case-control study design to compare risk of diarrhea and respiratory infections among those exposed to the community education program and those not exposed. We found that participants exposed to the education program had a 38% lower odd of having diarrhea or respiratory infection. The findings have a bearing on water sanitation and hygiene initiatives as they indicate the need for information, education and communication (IEC) activities. Participants residing in areas with water improvement initiatives also reported 35% lower odds of having diarrhea or respiratory infections further highlighting the need for infrastructure development.

Chapter three focuses on care seeking dynamics of patients diagnosed with diabetes and/or hypertension. Diabetes and hypertension are chronic conditions that affect an individual over a life time once diagnosed. Understanding how chronic patients residing in rural settings navigate the healthcare system is important for ensuring continuation of care. We used a cross-section survey to explore the health seeking behaviour of these patients as well as determine predictors of appropriate health seeking behaviour. Majority of the participants were diagnosed in the public sector and continued to seek care in the public sector. Almost all the respondents, 89% were on conventional medicines. Nearly two-thirds reported having regular scheduled clinic visit with their healthcare provider. Financial constrain and thinking the disease was not serious were the most common reason for dropping out of treatment. The findings provide evidence on the need to strengthen the public facilities in order to protect rural patients from health complications resulting from non-treatment. It also highlights the need for patient education on hypertension and diabetes in order to encourage adherence to therapy.

Chapter four we conducted a cross-sectional survey to assess utilization of maternal child health services. The purpose of this study was to provide a monitoring framework for the effectiveness of community health worker program in increasing uptake of maternal child health services.

Maternal mortality remains high in Kenya at 362 per 100,000 live births and way above the sustainable development goal target of 70 per 100,000 live births. Nearly all mothers, 97% reported having attended at least one antenatal care clinic during the last pregnancy in the last two years prior to the survey. The world health organization recommends at least four antenatal care clinic visits during pregnancy and should start during the first trimester. Approximately 38% of the mothers interviewed did not have a minimum of ANC visits during their last pregnancy and only 22% had their first during the first trimester. Despite the high ANC attendance, there was poor knowledge of danger signs in pregnancy as well as danger signs for newborns. This highlights the need to review education provided during ANC and find strategies of sharing vital information at every ANC attendance, that is, to focus on the quality of every clinic visit. The findings also highlight the need to leverage close to community strategies such as community health workers to provide education to the mothers and to encourage ANC attendance.

The findings of this research lend themselves to the support of community health workers in prevention of infectious disease, promoting wellbeing of pregnant mothers and children as we as supporting patients with chronic diseases and ensuring they are retained in care. The findings further review the reliance of rural communities on public health facilities for health services. This has a policy implication in that there is need to strengthen the public health facilities in order to protect the poor and the marginalized communities who depend on them for the health services.

List of Abbreviation

ANC-	Antenatal Care
ART-	Antiretroviral Therapy
BP-	Blood Pressure
CBHIS-	Community Based Health Information System
CHCs-	Community Health Committees
CHEWs-	Community Health Extension Workers
CHS-	Community Health Strategy
CHUs-	Community Health Units
CHVs-	Community Health Volunteers
CHWs	Community Health Worker
CREATES-	Centre for Research in Therapeutic Sciences
CUs-	Community Units
DHMT-	District Health Management Team
HIV-	Human immunodeficiency virus
HMIS-	Health management information system
IDI-	In-depth Interview
КЕРН-	Kenya Essential Package for Health
LMICs-	Lower and Middle Income Countries
SDGs-	Sustainable Development Goals
MNCH-	Maternal New-born and Child Health
IUD	Intrauterine Device
MOH-	Ministry of Health
NCDs	Non Communicable Diseases
ORS-	Oral Rehydration Solution
РНС-	Primary Health Care
RTI-	Respiratory Tract Infection
Swiss TPH-	Swiss Tropical and Public Health Institute
SCHMT-	Sub-County Health Management Team
UNICEF-	United Nations International Children's Emergency Fund
WHO-	World Health Organization
RCT	Randomized Controlled Trial
WASH	Water Sanitation and Hygiene
IQR	Interquartile range
AMREF	Africa Medical and Research Foundation
IEC	Information, Education and Communication
OR	Odds Ratio
CI	Confidence Interval
SSA	Sub Saharan Africa
ODK	Open Data Kit
NHIF	National Health Insurance Fund
CRD	Chronic Respiratory Disease
KDHS	Kenya Demographic Health Survey

List of figures Chapter one

Figure 1: Kenyan Health system organized into four tiers and six levels of care	10
Figure 2: An illustration of the Kenya Community Health Strategy	11
Figure 3: Map showing Familia Nawiri Project Sites in Kenya	12

Chapter three

Figure 1: Map showing location of respondents across the nine counties included in the study	
Fig 2 Prevalent non-communicable diseases among study participants (n=1100) with self- reported hypertension and/or diabetes	
Figure 3: Proportion of respondents reporting selected behavioural and biological risk factors for non-communicable diseases	.)

Chapter four

Figure 1: Utilization of antenatal care services in the control and intervention sites	71
Figure 2: Services provided during antenatal care visit	71
Figure 3: Use of contraceptive methods among the respondents	72

List of tables

Chapter two

Chapter three

Table 1: Socio-demographics of the respondents according to disease status 45
Table 2: Description of health seeking behaviour of respondents by disease status
Table 3: Reasons for not being on treatment (N=101)
Table 4: Use of Antidiabetic drugs in patients with diabetes 50
Table 5: Use of Antihypertensive drugs in patients with hypertension
Table 6: Factors associated with health seeking behaviour among respondents with diabetes and/or hypertension
Table 7: Education topic discussed with community health volunteer 53
<u>Chapter four</u>
Table 1: A summary of the socio-demographic characteristics of the respondents
Table 2: Comparison of household characteristics at baseline 70
Table 3: Comparing birth preparedness arrangement steps taken for the last delivery
Table 4: Danger signs during pregnancy and in the newborn identified by respondents73
Table 5: Comparison of households reporting childhood illness among children below fiveyears and use of health services for the same by group

Table 6: Comparison of households reporting visits by community health volunteer......74

1. Introduction

Universal health coverage as set out by the World Health Organization (WHO) and the United Nations General Assembly are a key priority for countries across the globe as captured in Sustainable Development Goal (SDG) three which aims at ensuring healthy lives and promote well-being for all at all ages and its linked target 3.8 on attaining Universal Health Coverage (UHC) by 2030[1-4]. A key challenge to achieving these goals is the shortage of health workers especially in the Low and Middle Income Countries (LMIC) [5].

The world health organization (WHO) estimates the shortage of health workers in Africa and Asia to be approximately 4.25 million and an approximately 400 million people globally to not have access to basic health services[6]. This shortage of health workers is further marked by inequitable distribution of the existing health workers majority being located in the private sector, in cities and high income countries leaving those in dire need, such as the poor, people living in rural settings and marginalized people and groups with inadequate care [7].

In response to this health worker crisis and in addition to the growing body of evidence on the effectiveness of community health workers (CHWs), a lot of the LMIC have renewed their interests and increased their investments in CHW programs [7-10]. Community health workers (CHWs) fall within a task-shift strategy to address the shortage of health workers[11, 12]. Different names have been used to refer to the CHWs including health auxiliaries, health volunteers, health promoters, family welfare educators, village health workers, community lay health aides, health agents and barefoot doctors among others[7, 13]

The WHO definition of CHWs is a worker who lives in the community they serve, is selected by the community and is accountable to the same community; they have short and defined training and are not necessarily attached to a formal institution[14]. In resource constrained settings, CHWs play a vital role of enabling the formal health systems through the delivery of preventative health care services, providing basic curative services directly to the community and at the same time linking the households with the formal health system[15]. Large scale CHW programs have the capacity to reach the most vulnerable and marginalized population with health services thus bridging the equity gap in accessing care[10]. Since the CHWs are often chosen from the locality,

they tend to be more embedded in their communities, they are more likely to stay in job and also understand and empathize with their community members [16]

Despite the evidence on the effectiveness of the CHWs and CHW programs as a solution to the shortage of health workers crisis especially in LMICs, a lot of implementation issues continue to pose a threat to their sustainability. They face weak political endorsement, lack of finances, fragmented oversight and technical support as well as lack of well-funded research agenda to create an evidence base of proven strategies to enhance and sustain the CHW programs[10]. Other challenges these programs face relate to motivation and performance of the CHWs, attrition rates and the quality of care delivered being low[17] These challenges provide an opportunity for increased cooperation between policy makers, public health practitioners and the private sector thus leverage on the strength of each partner to strengthen the health systems in the LMIC[10]. As countries across the globe strive to achieve UHC by 2030, the need for public private collaboration becomes more real as no one single organization can address the healthcare challenges on their alone. However such collaborations need to be accompanied by implementation research using rigorous evaluation designs in order to provide context specific evidence of sustainable strategies in addressing health related challenges in developing countries.[18, 19]

1.1. The Kenyan Health system and Community Health Strategy

The provision of health services in Kenya is organized around six levels of care fitting into four tiers that include the community, primary care, primary referral services (county) and tertiary referral services (national)[20]. The promotion of primary health care services to the community is centered on the lowest level of the six-level health system, level 1 (also referred to as the community health unit). The level 2 and level 3 health facilities which include dispensaries and health centers provide both preventative and curative services while the facilities at the higher level namely level 3, 4, 5 and 6 are mainly focused on curative and rehabilitative services. Child delivery services are found in all facilities from level 2 upwards while facilities from level 3 upwards offer health services on a 24 hour basis[5]. Following the devolution of government from Central to County governments, the implementation of health programs and delivery of health services became the responsibility of the sub-counties[20]. In 2006, the government of Kenya through its Ministry of Public Health and Sanitation developed a community health strategy to deliver Kenya

Essential Package for Health (KEPH) at the community level[21]. The strategy had an ambitious vision of reaching 3.2 million households (approximately 16 million people) by the year 2009 although this was not realized. The strategy provided a plan to expand community access to health care as well as providing a way of empowering households and communities to take charge of their health and the development issues related to health[22]

According to the strategy, the coordination of community health services within the sub-counties is the responsibility of the sub-county health management team (SCHMT) which was formerly known as the district health management team (DHMT). The delivery of health services in the sub-county is then focused around Community Health Units (CHU) also termed as first tier or level 1 as in figure 1 above (McCollum et al., 2015). [20]The (CHU) were established to serve a population of 5,000 people (approximately 1000 households). Within the CHUs the delivery of services to the communities is the responsibility of Community Health Volunteers (CHVs) who are elected and managed by the Community Health Committees (CHC).





The CHCs are made up of voluntary community representatives and their role is to provide supervision and governance of CHVs as well to mobilize the community to take part in health related activities[20]. The CHVs are directly supervised by the community health extension workers (CHEWs) who are usually trained health personnel such as nurses or public health officers and are government employees through the Ministry of Public Health and Sanitation thus creating a link between the CHVs and the local health facilities[22]. The tasks performed by the CHVs falls into three main categories namely, disease prevention and control, family health services and hygiene and environmental sanitation. In the event of decentralization of governance some counties such as Siaya have adopted CHEWS as part of their health system and have formally employed them. There is need to generate more information on the role of the CHEWs in the county health system to facilitate the integration of CHEWs as part of the health system as voluntary work is not sustainable.

Figure 2: An illustration of the Kenya Community Health Strategy

(Source: Pathfinder International, 2014)



1.2. Community Health Worker Program

The work represented in this thesis was conducted within a broader collaboration between various county ministries of health and a Novartis Social Venture in Kenya called Familia Nawiri. Familia Nawiri which means healthy families in Swahili, was launched in Kenya in 2012– based on a previously successful Novartis initiative initially started in India (where it was called 'Arogya

Parivar')[23] .The overall aim of Familia Nawiri is to help improve access to healthcare services including access to quality medicines for populations living at the base of the economic pyramid[24]. Together with the various county ministries of health in Kenya, the partnership aim is to strengthen community health strategy through building capacity and competencies of the CHEWs and CHVs.





1.3. Objective of the thesis

The overall aim of this thesis was to assess the effect of a community health worker initiative implemented in rural parts of Kenya through a private public partnership as well as inform future programming.

Specific objectives were

- 1. To evaluate a community-based health education program in reducing the risk of diarrhea and respiratory infections
- 2. To assess care seeking dynamics among patients diagnosed with diabetes and hypertension
- 3. To assess utilization of maternal child health services at baseline across the project sites

1.4. References

- 1. Organization WH: The world health report: health systems financing: the path to universal coverage: executive summary. In.: Geneva: World Health Organization; 2010.
- 2. Resolution WH: **58.33. Sustainable health financing, universal coverage and social health insurance**. *Fifty-eighth World Health Assembly edition Geneva: World Health Organization* 2005.
- 3. Organization WH: **SDG 3: Ensure healthy lives and promote wellbeing for all at all ages**. *Geneva: World Health Organization* 2016.
- 4. Tangcharoensathien V, Mills A, Palu T: Accelerating health equity: the key role of universal health coverage in the Sustainable Development Goals. *BMC medicine* 2015, **13**(1):101.
- 5. Kawakatsu Y, Tanaka J, Ogawa K, Ogendo K, Honda S: **Community unit performance:** factors associated with childhood diarrhea and appropriate treatment in Nyanza Province, Kenya. *BMC public health* 2017, **17**(1):202.
- 6. WHO WHO: **The world health report 2006: working together for health**: World Health Organization; 2006.
- 7. Bangdiwala SI, Fonn S, Okoye O, Tollman S: Workforce resources for health in developing countries. *Public Health Reviews* 2010, **32**(1):296.
- 8. Maher D, Smeeth L, Sekajugo J: **Health transition in Africa: practical policy proposals for primary care**. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization* 2010, **88**:943-948.
- 9. Kok MC, Dieleman M, Taegtmeyer M, Broerse JE, Kane SS, Ormel H, Tijm MM, de Koning KA: Which intervention design factors influence performance of community health workers in low-and middle-income countries? A systematic review. *Health policy and planning* 2014, **30**(9):1207-1227.
- 10. Naimoli JF, Perry HB, Townsend JW, Frymus DE, McCaffery JA: Strategic partnering to improve community health worker programming and performance: features of a community-health system integrated approach. *Human resources for health* 2015, 13(1):46.
- 11. Celletti F, Wright A, Palen J, Frehywot S, Markus A, Greenberg A, de Aguiar RAT, Campos F, Buch E, Samb B: Can the deployment of community health workers for the delivery of HIV services represent an effective and sustainable response to health workforce shortages? Results of a multicountry study. *Aids* 2010, **24**:S45-S57.
- 12. Mumbo HM, Ochieng BM, Kaseje DO, Aila FO, Odera O, Ayugi ME: **UPTAKE OF TASK SHIFTING AS A COMMUNITY STRATEGY IN KENYA**. *European Scientific Journal* 2013, **9**(14).
- 13. Dussault G, Franceschini MC: Not enough there, too many here: understanding geographical imbalances in the distribution of the health workforce. *Human* resources for health 2006, **4**(1):12.
- 14. Organization WH: Declaration of Alma-Ata: International Conference on Primary Health Care, Alma-Ata, USSR, 6–12 September 1978. *Retrieved February* 1978, 14:2006.
- 15. Jerome JG, and Ivers, L.C., : Community Health Workers in Health Systems Strengthening: A qualitative evaluation from rural Haiti. *HHA Author Manuscript* 2010, 24(Suppl 1):5.
- 16. Standing HaC, A.M.R., : Producing effective knowledge agents in a pluralistic environment: what future for community health workers?... Social science & medicine 2008, 66(10):2096.
- 17. Bhutta ZA, Lassi, Z. S., Pariyo, G., & Huicho, L.: Global experience of community health workers for delivery of health related millennium development goals: a systematic

review, country case studies, and recommendations for integration into national health systems. . Global Health Workforce Alliance, 2010, 1:12

- 18. Wirtz VJ, Turpin K, Laing RO, Mukiira CK, Rockers PC: Access to medicines for asthma, diabetes and hypertension in eight counties of Kenya. *Tropical Medicine & International Health* 2018, **23**(8):879-885.
- 19. Manji IaP, S.D.,: Novartis Access: a small step towards increased access for noncommunicable disease care. 2019, *The Lancet Global Health*
- 20. McCollum R, Otiso, L., Mireku, M., Theobald, S., de-Koning, K., Hussein, S., and Taegtmeyer M. 2015: Exploring perceptions of community health policy in Kenya and identifying implications for policy change. *Health policy and planning*, 2015, p. czv007.
- 21. Mireku M, kiruki, M., Mccollum, R., Taegtmeyer, M., Dekoning, K., Otiso, L., : Context Analysis: close-to-community health service providers in kenya. LVCT Health. LVCT Health 2014, p 149.
- 22. Wangalwa G, Cudjoe, B., Wamalwa, D., Machira, Y., Ofware, P., Ndirangu, M., and Ilako, F.: Effectiveness of Kenya's Community Health Strategy in delivering community-based maternal and newborn health care in Busia County, Kenya: non-randomized pre-test post test study. *The Pan African medical journal*, 2012., **13**((Suppl 1).).
- 23. Pfitzer M, Bockstette, V., & Stamp, M.: Innovating for shared value. Harvard Business Review, 2013.
- 24. Bigdeli M, Peters, D. H., Wagner, A. K., & World Health Organization: **Medicines in health** systems: advancing access, affordability and appropriate use. 2014.

Chapter 2: Risk reduction of diarrhea and respiratory infections following a community health education program - a facility-based case-control study in rural parts of Kenya

This article was published as:

Karinja, Miriam, Raymond Schlienger, Goonaseelan Colin Pillai, Tonya Esterhuizen, Evance Onyango, Anthony Gitau, and Bernhards Ogutu. "Risk reduction of diarrhea and respiratory infections following a community health education program-a facility-based case-control study in rural parts of Kenya." *BMC public health* 20 (2020): 1-9.

- 2. Risk reduction of diarrhea and respiratory infections following a community health education program a facility-based case-control study in rural parts of Kenya Miriam Karinja^{1, 2, 3}, Raymond Schlienger⁴, Goonaseelan (Colin) Pillai^{5, 6}, Tonya Esterhuizen⁷, Evance Onyango³, Anthony Gitau⁸ and Bernhards Ogutu^{3,9}
- 1. Swiss Tropical and Public Health Institute, Basel, Switzerland. <u>mkarinja2001@yahoo.com</u> and/or miriam.karinja@unibas.ch and/or mkarinja@strathmore.edu
- 2. University of Basel, Basel, Switzerland
- Center for Research in Therapeutic Sciences (CREATES), Strathmore University, Nairobi, Kenya. <u>ogutu6@gmail.com</u> and <u>evanceonyango12@gmail.com</u>
- 4. Quantitative Safety and Epidemiology, Chief Medical Office & Patient Safety, Novartis Pharma AG, Basel, Switzerland. <u>raymond.schlienger@novartis.com</u>
- 5. CP+ Associates GmbH, Basel, Switzerland. colin@cpplusassociates.org
- Division of Clinical Pharmacology, Department of Medicine, University of Cape Town, South Africa
- Division of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, Stellenbosch University. <u>Tonyae@sun.ac.za</u>
- 8. The Children's Investment Fund Foundation, Nairobi, Kenya. tonygits7@gmail.com
- 9. Centre for Clinical Research, Kenya Medical Research Institute, Nairobi, Kenya

2.1. Abstract

Background: Diarrheal and acute respiratory infections remain a major cause of death in developing countries especially among children below five years of age. About 80% of all hospital attendances in Kenya can be attributed to preventable diseases and at least 50% of these preventable diseases are linked to poor sanitation. The purpose of this study was to assess the impact of a community-based health education program, called Familia Nawiri, in reducing the risk of diarrhea and respiratory infections among people living in three rural Kenyan communities. **Methods:** Cases were defined as patients attending the health facility due to diarrhea or a respiratory infection while controls were patients attending the same health facility for a non-communicable disease defined as an event other than diarrhea, respiratory infection. Adjusted odds ratios (ORs) with 95% confidence intervals (CIs) were calculated using a logistic regression model to assess the risk of diarrheal or respiratory infection in association with exposure to the health education program.

Results: There were 324 cases and 308 controls recruited for the study with 57% of the cases and 59% of the controls being male. Overall, 13% of cases vs. 20% of control patients were exposed to the education program. Participants exposed to the program had 38% lower odds of diarrhea and respiratory infections compared to those not exposed to the program (adjusted OR 0.62, 95% CI 0.41-0.96). A similar risk reduction was observed for participants in the study who resided in areas with water improvement initiatives (adjusted OR 0.65, 95% CI 0.47-0.90). Variables in the adjusted model included water improvement projects in the area and toilet facilities.

Conclusion: Findings from this study suggest participants exposed to the education program and those residing in areas with water improvement initiatives have a reduced risk of having diarrhea or respiratory infection.

Keywords: Diarrhea, respiratory infection, health education, hygiene, case-control study

2.2. Background

Diarrhea and acute respiratory infections remain a major cause of death in low income countries especially among children below five years of age accounting for about 9 and 13% of annual deaths respectively [1-3]. In Kenya, about 80% of all hospital attendances can be attributed to preventable diseases. Among these preventable diseases, approximately 50% of them are water, sanitation and hygiene related. Diarrheal diseases are ranked among the top ten causes of morbidity and mortality in Kenya and in most rural healthcare facilities; diarrhea is ranked third among the leading causes of outpatient attendance [4]. Furthermore, in Kenya diarrheal diseases cause 16% of deaths among children below five years of age followed by pneumonia [4].

While notable progress has been made - including a 53% decrease in the worldwide mortality rate of children below five years between 1990 and 2015 [5] - still about 1 in 12 children die before their 5th birthday in low income countries compared to 1 in 147 in the developed world [6]. The Global Burden of Disease 2015 policy report also highlighted "Exposure to poor sanitation, indoor air pollution, and childhood under nutrition has dropped, resulting in dramatic declines in the burden of diarrhea and pneumonia in children" [7]. At a country level however, this should not result in any decrease in their infection control efforts, and there remains a need to identify interventions against common diseases affecting children such as diarrhea and respiratory infections [8]. The negative impact of poor sanitary conditions on health remains as much of a public health concern in the developing world today as when it was a surprising revelation to London during John Snow's pioneering epidemiological work on cholera infection over 150 years ago [9].

Hand washing is one of the best studied hygiene practices in resource constrained settings. Findings from randomized controlled trials (RCTs) and observational studies on hand washing with soap have shown reduction in diarrhea of between 30% and 47% [10, 11]. A 2006 quantitative systematic review of seven homogenous interventional studies reported a 16% (95% confidence interval [CI] 11–21%) reduced risk of respiratory infections through hand washing with soap [12]. Similar findings of a 47% risk reduction of diarrhea were also reported in a 2003 systematic review on the effect of hand washing with soap [13] and a 35% reduction in incidence of diarrhea in a 2017 RCT on hand washing with soap and Water, Sanitation and Hygiene (WASH) education intervention [14]. Recent RCTs assessing interventions promoting healthy behaviour related to WASH in improving child health outcomes like diarrhea have yielded negative results [15-17].

One of the studies found no benefit of individual interventions such as hand washing, sanitation, water treatment and nutrition[16] while the other found no additive benefit of the interventions over single interventions[17]. Another RCT conducted in Bihar, India on hand washing with soap among school children and their mothers showed little effect on targeted behaviour such as hand washing with soap after defecation and using soap for bathing[18].

A World Bank review found hygiene promotion including hand washing to be the most cost effective intervention for disease prevention at a cost of approximately \$3.4 for each disabilityadjusted life-year saved [19]. Despite the large body of evidence showing the cost effectiveness and benefits of hygiene promotion in reducing the burden of infectious diseases, there remains low investments in hygiene in the public health, water and sanitation sector [10]. Even more puzzling is the fact that despite the evidence on the ability to prevent diseases, hand washing with soap is still not common practice with some studies reporting 5-15% usage even at the critical times such as after toilet use [20]. This highlights that knowledge alone is insufficient when it comes to changing behaviour and also acknowledges that changing deep seated, private and culturally embedded hygiene practices is a complex and uncertain process [21].

The purpose of this study was to evaluate a community-based health education program in reducing the risk of diarrhea and respiratory infections after two years of its operation. The program was implemented by Familia Nawiri (a Swahili term for "healthy family"), a social venture program initiated in Kenya by Novartis, a multinational pharmaceutical company in three rural settings in Embu, Kirinyaga and Nakuru counties [22]. The education sessions were based on the assumption that through continuous education of community groups, the program would be able to conjure positive change in health related behaviour and thus, reduce the risk of preventable diseases such as diarrheal and respiratory diseases. There are various theories that have been developed and used to explain the relationship of factors that affect health related behaviour. These theoretical behaviour models have been applied to health education and health promotion - among other areas - sometimes with considerable success [23]. Though not applied to the Familia Nawiri program implementation, the RANAS (Risk, Attitudes, Norms, Abilities, Self-Regulation) model for behaviour change which is based on several behaviour change theories [24] has been applied to change behaviour in WASH with good success[25, 26]. The model groups factors that need to be favorable in order for a new behaviour to emerge into five categories (risk factor, attitude

factors, norm factors, ability factors and self-regulation factors) and these are matched with specific behaviour change interventions[24, 27].

2.3. Methods

2.3.1. Program Implementation

The program focused on community-based health education at a group level as a way of encouraging lasting behaviour change. The groups comprised of women, men, church, youth and table banking (informal money saving) groups with majority being women. The choice to deliver the health education through the group platform was based on the high prevalence of self-help and informal money saving group among others in the rural setting [28, 29]. Since the groups already existed prior to implementation of the program, this provided an easier entry route into the community with larger audience as opposed to individual house visitations. Existing groups in the project sites were mapped and approached for permission to deliver health education sessions during their usual meeting times. The education sessions were delivered by trained health educators who resided in the same communities as the attendees at the education sessions. The health educators had as a minimum a secondary school education level. Prior to initiation of the program, the health educators received training focused on content of hygiene education topics, communication skills and styles, adult learning and facilitation skills, time management and the overall format and structure of a group education session as they would occur in the community. After the training, the health educators were deployed to their communities where they provided health education to the various existing organized groups in their communities.

The hygiene education curriculum comprised two parts, namely, personal and environmental hygiene. Key messages under personal hygiene included body hygiene, dental hygiene, proper hand washing practices and the importance of good hygiene in preventing contagious diseases. Messages on hand washing were coupled with a demonstration on proper hand washing procedure. Key messages on environmental hygiene included main water sources, water treatment methods, importance of clean environment including household surfaces, floors, clothes, outside living area, bathroom, latrines, cooking areas and dishes. There was also an emphasis on having improvised hand washing stations with soap near the toilet facilities to encourage hand washing at critical times, including a demonstration on how to construct these hand washing stations. Each group received at least 2 sessions on each part of the hygiene curriculum, each session lasting 20-40 minutes. The education sessions took place during the regular meetings for the different groups.

The sizes of the groups differed depending on the purpose of the group's existence but mainly ranged from 10 to 200 - though not all members attended the education sessions. The education sessions were conducted in a participatory manner with both the health educators and the participants contributing to the questions and discussions.

2.3.2. Study design and setting

A health facility-based case-control design was used to assess the impact of the education program on reducing the risk of diarrhea and respiratory infections. The rationale for this approach was based on the fact that there were no baseline outcome measurements available to allow for a before and after design. An RCT or a prospective observational study would be a more appropriate design in certain situations to evaluate the effect of an intervention. However, in our case, the program sponsors designed and implemented the program without a specific plan to do an assessment of the effect of the program. When we decided to assess the program, it had already been implemented, and therefore, any prospective assessment was not feasible anymore, and therefore we decided to conduct a case-control analysis bearing in mind the limitations inherent to that design.

The study was carried out in three counties in Kenya, namely Nakuru (Molo constituency), Kirinyaga (Mwea constituency) and Embu (Manyatta constituency) which were the initial pilot sites for the Familia Nawiri community health education program.

2.3.3. Selection of cases and controls

A total of six health facilities in Nakuru County, eight in Kirinyaga County and five in Embu County were selected based on their location in the target areas where the education program had been implemented. Participants were eligible for the study if they attended the health facility during the study period (June 2014 to November 2014) and if they were residents of the same village for more than 6 months. Children who were accompanied to the health facilities by a parent or a legal guardian who was willing to take part in the study and able to provide written informed consent on behalf of the minor were also included in the study. Data were then obtained from the accompanying parent or guardian. Cases were defined as patients attending the health facilities because of diarrhea or respiratory infection. In line with the definition by the Ministry of Health of Kenya [30], the world health organization (WHO) definition for diarrhea namely, having three or more loose or liquid stools per day or more frequently than normal for the individual was applied

[31]. Respiratory infections were defined as patients having one or more of the following diagnoses and/or symptoms: Pneumonia, bronchitis, and cold/cough plus any of the following other symptoms: difficulty breathing, chest pain, sore throat, sneezing, or runny nose [32]. Controls were defined as patients attending the same health facility within 2 days of a case for a 'non-communicable disease' reason, i.e. an event other than diarrhea, respiratory infection.

2.3.4. Data collection

Mobile electronic data collection was employed for this study. The questionnaire used was adapted from a previously published World Health Organization questionnaire [33] that had been used to evaluate a water, sanitation and hygiene education intervention. The questionnaire was programmed in the Mezzanine mhealth software platform[34] and deployed onto Android mobile phones. After providing a written informed consent, the participants or their parents or guardians were asked questions from the electronic questionnaire and all the answers were captured on the mobile devices. The completed questionnaire was then automatically uploaded to a host server. In places where there was no network coverage, the completed questionnaires were stored securely on the device and later automatically uploaded when a signal was found. The data collectors were community health extension workers (CHEWs) who administered the questionnaire to the participants at the health facility. The case and control patients were referred to the CHEWs for participation in the study by the clinicians at the facility after consultation and diagnosis.

Data collected included socio-demographic factors, hygiene practices, and behaviour (e.g. age, sex, education level, number of people living in the house, type of house roof, floor and walls, distance to health facility, mode of transport to health facilities, main sources of water, storage of drinking water and water treatment practices). Personal hygiene was assessed using a series of practice and behaviour questions. Seven of the questions related to critical hand washing time points such as before eating, after handling child's stool and after visiting the toilet. The behaviour was then evaluated as a whole and awarded a composite score with each correct answer yielding 1 point while every wrong answer yielding zero points. Factors causing diarrhea and the health seeking behaviour for illness due to diarrhea and respiratory infections were assessed in a similar fashion.

The CHEWs underwent an intensive one-day training prior to commencing data collection. The training focused on the data collection protocol including basics of conducting interviews,

pretesting of the survey instruments for suitability and appropriateness, field logistics, general orientation to using the mobile devices and the data collection software, accessing the questionnaire on the phone, trouble shooting and handling technical difficulties with the mobile device. Special attention was paid during training on interview techniques especially the avoidance of asking 'leading' questions. A pilot test in which the CHEWs conducted interviews with each other and inputting dummy data into the app, was conducted prior to starting data collection in order to allow them to gain familiarity with the app, to test our processes and to allow minor adjustments to the data collection instrument.

2.3.5. Sample size estimation

The sample size for this frequency-matched case-control study was estimated using formulary as described by [35] for a binary outcome analysis using logistic regression. We calculated that a minimum sample size of 272 for either a case or control will be required based on 2-sided testing with a 0.05 level of significance and 80% power in order to detect a risk reduction of 0.5 (OR=0.5). The assumption made in calculating the sample size was that 20% of the controls would have been exposed to the Familia Nawiri hygiene education program. Accounting for 5% non-response rate, the final sample size was 286 for cases and 286 for controls; a minimum sample size total of 572 participants were therefore needed. In order to minimize selection bias and ensure controls were of a similar source population as the cases, participants were frequency-matched on the basis of recruitment by health facility and the time of diagnosis with controls being recruited within 2 days of a case.

2.4. Data analysis

Data were entered into Stata software, StataCorp.2013 [36] (for analysis. The age of the participants and the age of the mother were reported using median and interquartile range (IQR), while all the other study variables which were categorical were reported as percentages (%). Pearson's Chi-squared test was used for comparing categorical variables. Logistic regression analysis was used with diarrhea or respiratory infection as the dependent variable and attending Familia Nawiri health education sessions as the independent variable to estimate crude odds ratios (ORs) with corresponding 95% CIs in cases compared to controls. Other predictor variables included in the initial model based on scientific literature were: age, gender, having toilet facility, having other water improvement initiatives in the same localities (this included initiatives through government, community or private sector such as providing piped water into the homesteads or

community tapes, sinking of boreholes and water treatment products), having attended any other health education initiative in the same locality, and distance to health facility. For categorical variables, missing responses were put in a separate category and included in the regression model. There were no missing values for the continuous variables. To adjust for confounding and/or effect modification a backward stepwise deletion approach was used whereby variables were dropped one by one starting with those with highest p-value until a final model was obtained

2.5. Results

Overall, 640 questionnaires were completed by 330 cases and 310 controls. Out of the completed questionnaires, 8 (1.3%) were excluded on the basis of incomplete interviews, leaving 632 for the final analysis (324 cases and 308 controls). At least 153 (47%) of the cases and 143 (46%) of the controls from Embu County, while 85 (26%) of the cases and 82 (27%) of the controls were from Kirinyaga and 86 (27%) cases and 83 (27%) of the controls were from Nakuru County. The median age of cases was 20 years (IQR: 2-35 years) while that of controls was 23 years (IQR: 2-35 years). The proportion of males was higher, both in cases (57%), and controls (59%). Among the cases, 79% presented with respiratory tract infections while 21% presented with diarrhea. Among the controls, the most frequently mentioned presenting conditions included accident or injury 11%, Family planning services 11%, skin conditions 11%, burns 5%, sexually transmitted infections 5%, hypertension 4%, fever 4%, dental problems 2%, diabetes 1% among others. Table 1 presents an overview of the characteristics of the case and control patients. The majority of the participants had up to primary school as their highest level of education (cases 49% and 52% of the controls). Among the cases, a lower proportion, compared to controls, had attended Familia Nawiri education sessions (13% vs. 20%, respectively). About 34% of the cases compared to 45% of the controls reported residing in areas where there was water improvement initiatives. There was no difference noted in knowledge of causes of diarrhea, recognition of danger signs or critical times to seek medical attention for diarrhea and respiratory infection between the cases and the controls. The results from the logistic regression model indicate that exposure to Familia Nawiri health education reduced the risk of being a case with diarrhea or respiratory infection (adjusted OR 0.62, 95% CI: 0.41 - 0.96 (p = 0.03) [adjusted for other water improvement projects and presence of toilet facility]. Table 1 provides characteristics of cases and controls and crude ORs. Table 2 shows adjusted ORs of predictor variables used to arrive at the final statistical model.

2.6. Discussion

This study set out to evaluate the Familia Nawiri community health education program on risk reduction for diarrhea and respiratory infections. Findings from the study revealed favorable results for this hygiene education program. Overall, after adjusting for potential confounders, participants exposed to the hygiene education program had 38% lower odds of having diarrhea or a respiratory infection compared to participants who were not exposed to the hygiene education program (adjusted odds ratio 0.62, 95% CI: 0.41 - 0.96). Our findings are consistent with estimates from other studies assessing effects of hand washing with soap and WASH educational intervention on reducing the incidence of diarrhea and respiratory infections [11, 13, 14]. On the other hand, recent RCTs assessing interventions promoting healthy behaviour related to WASH, in improving child health outcomes like diarrhea and proper hand washing behaviour have yielded negative results [15-18]. For instance, a trial conducted in Rwanda assessing the impact of community-led health clubs promoting WASH interventions reported no effect on care-giver reported diarrhea among children below five years across the three arms of the study (control group, eight community health club sessions group and 20 community health club sessions group) [15]. A trial conducted in Kenya with seven arms (including: control arm, water intervention, sanitation intervention, hand washing intervention, combination of water, sanitation and hand washing intervention, nutrition intervention and combination of all the interventions [water, sanitation, hand washing and nutrition]) found no reduction in diarrhea in any of the intervention arms [16]. However, a trial from Bangladesh – with similar intervention arms as the study in Kenya - reported reduction in diarrhea in all intervention arms, except the intervention arm receiving water treatment only [17]. Although some of these recent studies have reported no effect of the interventions tested, the benefits of WASH for diarrheal diseases and other health outcomes should not be underestimated [37, 38]. The findings may also not be generalizable across all contexts and therefore should be viewed in light of the specific interventions and setting [37, 39, 40]. With regards to the intervention and the approach used to deliver the intervention, comparable examples in other low and middle income countries in Africa, have been provided by Sinharoy et al., Waterkeyn and Cairncross, and Lewycka et al [15, 41, 42]. However, findings from these interventions are varied. Cairncross, and Lewycka et al [41, 42] found that community health clubs and women's group interventions can be effective in achieving high levels of health knowledge and hygiene behaviour change in Zimbabwe and also to improve maternal and child health in

Malawi. On the other hand, Sinharoy *et al.*, [15] found that the use of community health clubs as implemented under Rwanda's national Community-Based Environmental Health Promotion Program in western Rwanda had no effect on health outcomes such as diarrhea in children under five years old.

It cannot be excluded with certainty that unmeasured bias or confounding e.g. recall bias with respect to exposure to the Familia Nawiri education sessions, residing in areas with water improvement initiatives and attending other health education programs, may have impacted the results in either direction, i.e. either increasing or decreasing the odds ratio. However, since our findings were statistically significant (95% CI: 0.41 - 0.96, P=0.03), they provide some support of an association between hygiene education and morbidity of diarrhea and respiratory tract infections.

Some of the strengths of this study include the fact that both cases and controls were recruited from the same health facilities, therefore, taking regional practice aspects into consideration. Selection of cases and controls was within two days of attending the clinic which helped to minimize potential seasonal influence on the outcomes.

The findings from this case-control study should be interpreted in light of some limitations. There is potential risk to overestimate the health impact as a result of relying on self-reported measurements. This could have been avoided by employing direct observation methods at the household level. However, due to logistical reasons and inconveniences that such a method would entail, we decided to rely on the self-reported measurements. We believe however, that the resulting misinformation would have been non-differential between cases and controls – in other words - any misinformation that occurred while collecting the data at the health facility may have occurred to the same extent for both groups and would therefore rather mask than exaggerate the impact of the intervention. Another limitation for our study is the fact that the intervention was delivered to a highly selective target audience - participants in group activities such as church groups or women's groups. It can be expected that these people differ in many psychosocial parameters that may not reflect in the measured socio-economic indicators. Misclassification bias with respect to exposure is also very likely for this study. This is mainly because there was no objective way of verifying reported or non-reported exposure to the education sessions. This has a bearing on how the participants recall exposure to the intervention. However, for this study, both the cases and the controls were selected from participants seeking medical attention at health

facilities; hence, both cases and controls would have similar concerns regarding the causes of their illness making them comparable and thus minimizing differential recall bias. Approximately 60% of the cases and the controls reported having attended some form of hygiene education session apart from the Familia Nawiri program while 45% of the controls and 34% of the cases reported residing in areas where there had been water improvement initiatives. The presence of these other initiatives may account for the finding of no difference in knowledge of the causes of diarrhea among cases and controls. Although the selected subjects for the study were statistically similar, the fact that most of them were children and young adults could perhaps reflect ability to access a health facility and therefore our findings should be interpreted in that context. Since the cases and controls in this study were selected from health facilities in the area where the health education program had purposefully been implemented, we cannot be certain that the findings from this study apply to people in other geographical locations or other health facilities. It is also important to note that recruitment at the health facility level probably shifts to more severe cases that require attendance of the health facility. Therefore, it is not clear whether the results would also apply to less severe cases of diarrhea and respiratory infections. A final limitation for this study is the fact that we did not utilize theory of change in assessing the effect of the community health education program as the assessment was largely focused on clinical health outcomes and nor was an implementation framework utilized in the implementation of the community health education program. We are therefore limited in our understanding of how or why changes happened as a result of the implemented community health education program or which aspects of the program, if not all were effective.

2.7. Conclusion

This study was a first attempt to assess the effect of the Familia Nawiri community health education program. We found that being exposed to the education sessions and residing in areas with water improvement initiatives were both associated with lower odds of attending a health facility due to diarrhea or a respiratory infection. The findings have implications for planning and implementing community based health education, water, and sanitation and hygiene interventions as they indicate the need for information, education and communication (IEC) activities tailored to the social and cultural context and infrastructure development.

2.8.	Abbreviations
OR	Odds Ratio
CI	Confidence Interval
WHO	World health Organization
RCT	Randomized Controlled Trial
WASH	Water Sanitation and Hygiene
CHEWs	Community Health Extension Workers
IQR	Interquartile range
AMREF	Africa Medical and Research Foundation
IEC	Information, Education and Communication

2.9. Declarations

Ethics approval and consent to participate

The protocol and informed consent forms for the study were reviewed by the Ethics and Scientific Review Committee of the Africa Medical and Research Foundation (AMREF), Nairobi, Kenya. Permission to conduct the study was granted by the County Departments of Health in Nakuru, Kirinyaga and Embu counties and also from the local health administration. All respondents and guardians were informed of the study procedures and voluntarily participated in the study and provided written informed consent.

Consent to publish

Not applicable

Availability of data and material

The datasets used and/or analyzed during the current study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Competing interests

MK was supported by the Next Generation Scientist Fellowship Program, Novartis Pharma where she was an intern at the time of undertaking the study. RS, GP and AG were employed by Novartis at the time of this study. The authors declare that they have no other competing interests.

Funding

This study was supported by Novartis Pharma, Basel, Switzerland under grant number: MED/A6/001/2014. RS, GP and AG who were employed by Novartis at the time of the study were involved in conceptualization of the study, data analysis, writing and reviewing the manuscript. The funder was not involved in the decision to publish.

Authors' contributions

Conceived and designed the study: MK, RS, GP, AG, BO. Performed data collection and questionnaire development: MK, RS, and GP. Analyzed the data and interpretation of the results: MK, EO, TE, GP, and RS. Wrote the paper: MK, RS, GP, BO, and AG. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Acknowledgement

We are grateful to the community health extension workers in the different areas who assisted with the data collection (Mary Wangui, Mary Kinyanjui, Kevin Mburu, Diana Bosibori, Agatha Muriithi, Hesbon Munyi, and Gabriel Maina). We would also like to acknowledge the team that developed the mobile data collection application used for electronic data capture in this study: Jacques De Vos, Torbjørn Kristoffersen, both of Mezzanine Ware Ltd, Cape Town, South Africa, and Surya Narayana of Development Informatics, Novartis Hyderabad, India. We would also like to extend a special acknowledgment to Prof Marcel Tanner of Swiss TPH for his continued guidance and reviewing of the manuscript. We would also like to acknowledge Jonas Haggstrom and Samer Mouksassi for independently reviewing the statistical analysis in R. Finally, we are truly grateful to all the participants who took part in the study and the staff at the health facilities that served as recruitment sites for the study.

2.10. References

- Sule S: Designing a health education programme for the prevention and control of diarrhoea diseases at primary health care (PHC) level for local government (LGA) workers. Nigerian journal of medicine: journal of the National Association of Resident Doctors of Nigeria 2003, 13(3):286-289.
- Fewtrell L, Kaufmann RB, Kay D, Enanoria W, Haller L, Colford Jr JM: Water, sanitation, and hygiene interventions to reduce diarrhoea in less developed countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *The Lancet infectious diseases* 2005, 5(1):42-52.
- 3. Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation [https://vizhub.healthdata.org/gbdcompare/]
- 4. Njuguna J, Muruka C: Diarrhoea and malnutrition among children in a Kenyan District: a correlational study. *Journal of Rural and Tropical Public Health* 2011, 10:35-38.
- 5. Norheim OF, Jha P, Admasu K, Godal T, Hum RJ, Kruk ME, Gómez-Dantés O, Mathers CD, Pan H, Sepúlveda J: Avoiding 40% of the premature deaths in each country, 2010–30: review of national mortality trends to help quantify the UN Sustainable Development Goal for health. *The Lancet* 2015, 385(9964):239-252.
- 6. Molyneux M, Molyneux E: **Reaching Millennium Development Goal 4**. *The Lancet Global Health* 2016.
- IHME: Rethinking Development and Health: Findings from the Global Burden of Disease Study. In. Seattle, WA: Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation; 2016.
- 8. Jones G, Steketee RW, Black RE, Bhutta ZA, Morris SS: **How many child deaths can** we prevent this year? *The lancet* 2003, **362**(9377):65-71.
- 9. Huttly SR: **The impact of inadequate sanitary conditions on health in developing countries**. *World Health Statistics Quarterly* 1990, **43**(3):118-126.
- 10. Curtis V, Schmidt W, Luby S, Florez R, Touré O, Biran A: **Hygiene: new hopes, new horizons**. *The Lancet infectious diseases* 2011, **11**(4):312-321.
- Luby SP, Agboatwalla M, Feikin DR, Painter J, Billhimer W, Altaf A, Hoekstra RM: Effect of handwashing on child health: a randomised controlled trial. *The Lancet* 2005, 366(9481):225-233.
- 12. Rabie T, Curtis V: **Handwashing and risk of respiratory infections: a quantitative systematic review**. *Tropical Medicine & International Health* 2006, **11**(3):258-267.
- 13. Curtis V, Cairneross S: **Effect of washing hands with soap on diarrhoea risk in the community: a systematic review**. *The Lancet infectious diseases* 2003, **3**(5):275-281.
- Hashi A, Kumie A, Gasana J: Hand washing with soap and WASH educational intervention reduces under-five childhood diarrhoea incidence in Jigjiga District, Eastern Ethiopia: A community-based cluster randomized controlled trial. *Preventive medicine reports* 2017, 6:361-368.

- 15. Sinharoy SS, Schmidt W-P, Wendt R, Mfura L, Crossett E, Grépin KA, Jack W, Rwabufigiri BN, Habyarimana J, Clasen T: Effect of community health clubs on child diarrhoea in western Rwanda: cluster-randomised controlled trial. *The Lancet Global Health* 2017, 5(7):e699-e709.
- Null C, Stewart CP, Pickering AJ, Dentz HN, Arnold BF, Arnold CD, Benjamin-Chung J, Clasen T, Dewey KG, Fernald LC: Effects of water quality, sanitation, handwashing, and nutritional interventions on diarrhoea and child growth in rural Kenya: a cluster-randomised controlled trial. *The Lancet Global Health* 2018, 6(3):e316-e329.
- Luby SP, Rahman M, Arnold BF, Unicomb L, Ashraf S, Winch PJ, Stewart CP, Begum F, Hussain F, Benjamin-Chung J: Effects of water quality, sanitation, handwashing, and nutritional interventions on diarrhoea and child growth in rural Bangladesh: a cluster randomised controlled trial. *The Lancet Global Health* 2018, 6(3):e302-e315.
- Lewis HE, Greenland K, Curtis V, Schmidt W-P: Effect of a School-Based Hygiene Behavior Change Campaign on Handwashing with Soap in Bihar, India: Cluster-Randomized Trial. *The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene* 2018, 99(4):924-933.
- Jamison DT, Breman JG, Measham AR, Alleyne G, Claeson M, Evans DB, Jha P, Mills A, Musgrove P: Disease control priorities in developing countries: World Bank Publications; 2006.
- 20. Scott B, Curtis V, Rabie T: **Protecting children from diarrhoea and acute respiratory infections: the role of handwashing promotion in water and sanitation programmes**. In: *WHO Reg Health Forum: 2003*; 2003: 42-47.
- Curtis VA, Danquah LO, Aunger RV: Planned, motivated and habitual hygiene behaviour: an eleven country review. *Health Education Research* 2009, 24(4):655-673.
- 22. Bigdeli M, Peters DH, Wagner AK, Organization WH: Medicines in health systems: advancing access, affordability and appropriate use. 2014.
- 23. Whitby M, McLaws ML, Ross MW: Why healthcare workers don't wash their hands: a behavioral explanation. *Infection control and hospital epidemiology* 2006, **27**(5):484-492.
- 24. Mosler H-J: A systematic approach to behavior change interventions for the water and sanitation sector in developing countries: a conceptual model, a review, and a guideline. International journal of environmental health research 2012, **22**(5):431-449.
- 25. Huber AC, Tobias R, Mosler HJ: Evidence-Based Tailoring of Behavior-Change Campaigns: Increasing Fluoride-Free Water Consumption in Rural E thiopia with Persuasion. *Applied Psychology: Health and Well-Being* 2014, 6(1):96-118.
- 26. Tumwebaze IK, Mosler H-J: Effectiveness of group discussions and commitment in improving cleaning behaviour of shared sanitation users in Kampala, Uganda slums. *Social Science & Medicine* 2015, **147**:72-79.
- 27. Contzen N, Meili IH, Mosler H-J: Changing handwashing behaviour in southern Ethiopia: a longitudinal study on infrastructural and commitment interventions. Social Science & Medicine 2015, **124**:103-114.
- 28. Nyataya IPK: Women Self Help Groups Enhancing Women's Development Processes in Kenya.
- 29. Oraro T, Wyss K: **How does membership in local savings groups influence the determinants of national health insurance demand? A cross-sectional study in Kisumu, Kenya**. *International journal for equity in health* 2018, **17**(1):170.
- 30. Kimathi N, Micheni J, Muriithi A: Clinical Guidelines for Diagnosis and treatment of Common conditions in Kenya. In.: Nairobi: Ministry of Health, GOK; 2002.
- Schmidt W-P, Arnold BF, Boisson S, Genser B, Luby SP, Barreto ML, Clasen T, Cairncross S: Epidemiological methods in diarrhoea studies—an update. *International journal of epidemiology* 2011, 40(6):1678-1692.
- 32. Feikin DR, Olack B, Bigogo GM, Audi A, Cosmas L, Aura B, Burke H, Njenga MK, Williamson J, Breiman RF: **The burden of common infectious disease syndromes at the clinic and household level from population-based surveillance in rural and urban Kenya**. *PloS one* 2011, **6**(1):e16085.
- 33. Nanan D, White F, Azam I, Afsar H, Hozhabri S: **Evaluation of a water, sanitation, and hygiene education intervention on diarrhoea in northern Pakistan**. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization* 2003, **81**(3):160-165.
- 34. Mezzanine Ware [http://www.mezzanineware.com/about-mezzanine/]
- 35. Demidenko E: Sample size and optimal design for logistic regression with binary interaction. *Statistics in medicine* 2008, **27**(1):36-46.
- 36. StataCorp L: Stata statistical software: Release 13.(2013). College Station, TX: StataCorp LP 2013.
- 37. Arnold BF, Null C, Luby SP, Colford JM: **Implications of WASH Benefits trials for** water and sanitation–Authors' reply. *The Lancet Global Health* 2018, **6**(6):e616-e617.
- 38. Ringler C, Choufani J, Chase C, McCartney M, Mateo-Sagasta J, Mekonnen D, Dickens C: Meeting the nutrition and water targets of the Sustainable Development Goals: achieving progress through linked interventions. In.: Colombo, Sri Lanka: International Water Management Institute (IWMI). CGIAR Research Program on Water, Land and Ecosystems (WLE); 2018.
- Coffey D, Spears D: Implications of WASH Benefits trials for water and sanitation. *The Lancet Global Health* 2018, 6(6):e615.
- 40. Cumming O, Curtis V: **Implications of WASH Benefits trials for water and sanitation**. *The Lancet Global Health* 2018, **6**(6):e613-e614.
- 41. Waterkeyn J, Cairncross S: **Creating demand for sanitation and hygiene through Community Health Clubs: A cost-effective intervention in two districts in Zimbabwe**. *Social science & medicine* 2005, **61**(9):1958-1970.

42. Lewycka S, Mwansambo C, Rosato M, Kazembe P, Phiri T, Mganga A, Chapota H, Kainja E, Newell M-L, Greco G: Effect of women's groups and volunteer peer counselling on rates of mortality, morbidity, and health behaviours in mothers and children in rural Malawi (MaiMwana): a factorial, cluster-randomised controlled trial. *The Lancet* 2013, **381**(9879):1721-1735.

 Table 1: Characteristics of cases and controls and crude odds ratio for diarrhea and respiratory infections in cases and controls exposed to Familia Nawiri Health Education Program

			Crude	
Variable	Cases (n=324)	Controls (n=308)	OR (95% CI)	P value
Median age of participant (IQR)	20 (2 -35)	23 (2 -35)	1.00 (0.99 - 1.01)	0.75
Gender, n (%)				
Male	186 (57.41)	183 (59.42)	1.00 (reference)	
Female	138 (43.59)	125 (40.58)	1.09 (0.69 - 1.37)	0.89
Highest level of education, n (%)				
Kindergarten and Primary level	158 (48.77)	161 (52.27)	1.00 (reference)	
Post-primary/vocational	6 (1.85)	5 (1.62)	1.60 (0.43 – 5.90)	0.48
Secondary/'a' level	120 (37.04)	111 (36.04)	1.11 (0.78 - 1.58)	0.57
College and University	27 (8.33)	19 (6.17)	1.77 (0.91 -3.48)	0.09
Missing	13 (4.01)	12 (3.90)		
Water improvement interventions, n (%)				
No	204 (62.96)	163 (52.92)	1.00 (reference)	
Yes	111 (34.26)	137 (44.48)	0.68 (0.48 - 0.95)	0.03
Missing	9 (2.78)	8 (2.60)		
Distance to health facility, n (%)				
10 mins	41 (12.65)	38 (12.34)	1 (reference)	
30 minutes	196 (60.49)	205 (66.56)	0.78 (0.47 - 1.29)	0.33
>1 hour	84 (25.93)	64 (20.78)	1.06 (0.59 – 1.92)	0.83
Missing	3 (0.93)	1 (0.32)		
Exposure to Familia Nawiri, n (%)				
No	272 (83.95)	239 (77.60)	1.00 (reference)	
Yes	43 (13.27)	61 (19.81)	0.62 (0.40 - 0.96)	0.03

Missing	9 (2.78)	8 (2.60)		
Toilet facility, n (%)				
No	8 (2.47)	2 (0.65)	1.00 (reference)	
Yes	308 (95.06)	301 (97.73)	0.23 (0.05 – 1.11)	0.07
Missing	8 (2.47)	5 (1.62)		
Improved water sources, n (%)				
No	66 (20.37)	62 (20.13)	1.00 (reference)	
Yes	251(77.47)	242 (78.57)	0.94 (0.62–1.42)	0.76
Missing	7 (2.16)	4 (1.30)		
Attended any other hygiene education sessions				
apart from Familia Nawiri				
No	211 (65.12)	215 (69.81)	1.00 (reference)	
Yes	104 (32.10)	85 (27.60)	1.08 (0.57 - 1.13)	0.69
Missing	9 (2.78)	8 (2.60)		

Table 2: Final model showing crude and adjusted odds ratio for diarrhea and respiratory infections in cases and controls exposed toFamilia Nawiri Health Education Program

			Crude		Adjusted*	
Variable	Cases	Controls	OR (95% CI)	P	OR (95% CI)	P value
	(n=324)	(n=308)		value		
Exposure to Familia						
Nawiri, n (%)	272 (83.95)	239 (77.60)	1.00 (reference)		1.00 (reference)	
No	43 (13.27)	61 (19.81)	0.62 (0.40 - 0.96)	0.03	0.62 (0.41 - 0.96)	0.03
Yes						
Median age (IQR)	20 (2 - 35)	23 (2 - 35)	1.00 (0.99 - 1.01)	0.75	1.00(0.99 - 1.00)	0.79
Gender, n (%)						
Male	186 (57.41)	183 (59.42)	1.00 (reference)		1.00 (reference)	
Female	138 (43.59)	125 (40.58)	1.09 (0.69 - 1.37)	0.89	0.98(0.71 - 1.37)	0.93
Water improvement						
interventions, n (%)						
No	204 (62.96)	163 (52.92)	1.00 (reference)		1.00 (reference)	
Yes	111 (34.26)	137 (44.48)	0.68 (0.48 - 0.95)	0.03	0.65 (0.47 - 0.91)	0.01

*Adjusted for all variables in the table

Chapter 3: Care-Seeking Dynamics among Patients with Diabetes Mellitus and Hypertension in Selected Rural Settings in Kenya

This article was published as:

Karinja, Miriam, Goonaseelan Pillai, Raymond Schlienger, Marcel Tanner, and Bernhards Ogutu. "Care-seeking dynamics among patients with diabetes mellitus and hypertension in selected rural settings in Kenya." *International journal of environmental research and public health* 16, no. 11 (2019): 2016.

3. Care-Seeking Dynamics among Patients with Diabetes Mellitus and Hypertension in Selected Rural Settings in Kenya

Miriam Karinja ^{1,2,3,} *, Goonaseelan Pillai ^{4,5}, Raymond Schlienger ⁶, Marcel Tanner ^{1,2} and Bernhards Ogutu ^{3,7}

- ¹ Department of Epidemiology and Public Health, Swiss Tropical and Public Health Institute, 4002 Basel, Switzerland; marcel.tanner@swisstph.ch
- ² University of Basel, 4001 Basel, Switzerland
- ³ Center for Research in Therapeutic Sciences (CREATES), Strathmore University, 00100 Nairobi, Kenya. ogutu6@gmail.com
- ⁴ CP+ Associates GmbH, 4102 Basel, Switzerland; colin@cpplusassociates.org
- ⁵ Division of Clinical Pharmacology, Department of Medicine, University of Cape Town,7701 Cape Town, South Africa
- ⁶ Quantitative Safety and Epidemiology, Chief Medical Office & Patient Safety, Novartis Pharma AG, 4033 Basel, Switzerland; raymond.schlienger@novartis.com
- ⁷ Centre for Clinical Research, Kenya Medical Research Institute, 00100 Nairobi, Kenya
- * Corresponding author: mkarinja2001@yahoo.com; Tel.: +254714842280

3.1. Abstract

Diabetes mellitus and hypertension are two common non-communicable diseases (NCDs) that often coexist in patients. However, health-seeking behaviour in patients with diabetes mellitus or hypertension has not been extensively studied especially in low- and middle-income countries. This study aimed to examine care-seeking dynamics among participants diagnosed with diabetes and/or hypertension across nine counties in rural Kenya. We conducted a crosssectional study among adults diagnosed with diabetes and/or hypertension through face-to-face interviews. Of the 1100 participants, 69.9% had hypertension, 15.5% diabetes while 14.7% had both. The mean age of the respondents was 64 years. The majority of the respondents (86%) were on allopathic treatment. Hospital admission, having a good self-rated health status and having social support for illness, were positively associated with appropriate health-seeking behaviour while use of alcohol and pharmacy or chemist as source of treatment were negatively associated with appropriate health-seeking behaviour. Our study found a high prevalence of appropriate health-seeking behaviour among respondents with the majority obtaining care from government facilities. The results are evidence that improving public health care services can promote appropriate health-seeking behaviour for non-communicable diseases and thus improve health outcomes.

Keywords : diabetes ; hypertension ; non-communicable diseases ; chronic condition

3.2. Introduction

Non-communicable diseases (NCDs) are the leading causes of global health loss, accounting for more loss today compared to 1990. Out of the estimated 54.9 million deaths worldwide in 2013, two thirds were attributed to NCDs with approximately 80% of these deaths occurring in low- and middle-income countries (LMIC) [1, 2]. In the African region alone, NCDs accounted for 34% of the 8.8 million deaths and 29% of the 598.6 million disability adjusted life years (DALYs) that were reported in the region in 2016 [3, 4]. Diabetes mellitus (DM) and hypertension are two of the most prevalent NCDs worldwide. Hypertension is estimated to affect approximately one billion people globally and the number is postulated to rise to 1.56 billion by the year 2025 [5, 6]. On the other hand, the World Health Organization (WHO) estimated the prevalence of diabetes among adults globally to be 4.0% (135 million people) in 1995 and predicted this number would rise to 5.4% (300 million people) by 2025 [6]. Despite this information, a vast majority of hypertensive and diabetic individuals still remain undiagnosed/unaware of their condition and hence, do not seek treatment and/or preventative measures in order to avoid complications [7].

Similar to other countries in Sub-Saharan Africa (SSA), Kenya has not been spared from this upward trend of NCDs with approximately 50% of hospital admissions and over 55% of hospital deaths being attributed to NCDs [8, 9]. A cross-sectional study conducted in Kenya in 2008 across three rural communities among participants aged between 17 and 68 years reported a diabetes prevalence of 4.2% [10]. Several studies have shown varying prevalence of hypertension across different communities in Kenya. In 2010, a population-based household survey conducted in one of the informal settlements in Nairobi reported an age-standardized prevalence of hypertension of 22.8% [11]. Another cross-sectional study conducted across four SSA countries reported a prevalence of 21.4% in rural Kenya [12]. Other reports have indicated a prevalence of 12% and 6.6% for hypertension and diabetes in Kenya, respectively [13]. This second epidemic of NCDs combined with the continuous burden of infectious diseases has led to an increased pressure on the LMICs' health care systems which are already poorly funded and largely geared towards addressing infectious diseases and providing mother and child health services. This rapid transition in disease burden to NCDs highlights the need for health care systems in these regions to evolve rapidly in order to be able to respond adequately to the management and prevention of chronic diseases [14-19]. Unlike most infectious diseases, NCDs are chronic conditions that affect individuals over a prolonged period of time and require continuing care, and therefore place substantial demands, including financial, on patients, families, health care systems and governments [18, 20, 21]. The high cost implication of managing diabetes and hypertension are a barrier to access of care, especially for the poor and other disadvantaged subgroups of the general population [22, 23]. Several other factors are known to influence access to care, including geography, transport, insurance coverage [24, 25], drug availability, as well as patients who might face other day-to-day challenges that may cause them to underestimate the benefits of treating a silent, asymptomatic condition like hypertension [26].

Although more than half of the population in Africa lives in rural settings, there is a dearth of data on the unique characteristics of patients with chronic conditions in these settings and challenges they face in navigating the health care system and managing their illness [25]. Understanding the care-seeking dynamics of people with chronic diseases is, therefore, an important step in preventing and managing these diseases. Strategies developed should ensure there is continuity of care at a cost that is affordable to all [24]. This study therefore seeks to explore care-seeking dynamics among respondents who self-reported having an NCD (diabetes mellitus and/or hypertension) in selected rural communities in Kenya.

3.2. Methods

3.2.1. Study Design and Setting

This was a cross-sectional study among participants who reported being diagnosed with hypertension and/or diabetes by a health practitioner. This study is part of a broader implementation research program between Familia Nawiri, a social venture program initiated in Kenya by Novartis, a multinational pharmaceutical company [27] and several County Ministries of Health in partnership with the Center for Research in Therapeutic Sciences at Strathmore University, Nairobi, Kenya, and the Swiss Tropical and Public Health Institute, Basel, Switzerland. The overall aim of the collaboration is to strengthen the Kenyan government's community health strategy (CHS) through training of community health workers and health promotion at the household level in order to improve health outcomes. The study was conducted in selected community health units (CHUs) across nine counties in Kenya. CHUs form the lowest level of the healthcare system in Kenya; each CHU is designed to serve a catchment population of approximately 5000 people and is linked to a government health facility. Four CHUs in each of the nine counties were purposefully selected to take part in the study based on the fact that Familia Nawiri had on-going CHS engagements in those areas. The counties included: Bomet, Embu, Kericho, Kirinyaga, Meru, Migori, Nairobi, Nakuru and Siaya as shown in Figure 1. All CHUs are located in rural areas where agriculture was the main economic generating activity with the exemption of Nairobi where the CHUs were located in the slum areas of the city.



Figure 1. Map showing location of respondents across the nine counties included in the study.

3.2.2. Study Population and Sampling

The study population comprised of adults aged 18 years and above with diabetes and/or hypertension diagnosed by a health practitioner, residing in the selected CHUs who consented to take part in the study. A convenience sampling approach was used to identify participants as follows: the community health extension workers (CHEW) (based at the local health facility) and community health volunteers (CHV)—who are the key players at the primary health care level—approached community members with a known hypertension and/or diabetes diagnosis and informed them of the study. Trained data collectors then visited respondents who were willing to take part in the study at home.

3.2.3. Data Collection and Measurements

Data were collected between September 2016 and February 2017 by trained data collectors through face-to-face interviews using a predesigned structured questionnaire. The data collectors underwent a precedent training which included piloting of the questionnaire. The questionnaire included socio-demographics (age, gender, educational level, occupation, marital status, ethnicity, religion), treatment type (allopathic medicines, traditional medicines and dropped out of treatment), recent blood pressure, blood glucose and eyes check, overall health status, regular scheduled clinic visits, risk factors (family history of diabetes, hypertension and

stroke [family relation was defined as first-class close relation such as biological mother, father, brothers, sisters, immediate maternal or paternal grandfather or grandmother], smoking and alcohol consumption), health insurance and other chronic diseases among others. The structured questionnaire used for the interviews was deployed on android operating system tablet computers using the Open Data Kit (ODK) platform [28].

3.2.4. Statistical Analysis

Data were analyzed using STATA, version 14 (Stata Corp, College Station, TX, USA). The participating individuals were stratified into three groups namely hypertensive, diabetics and those who had both diabetes and hypertension. Continuous variables were described using means and standard deviation (SD), while frequencies and percentages were used for categorical variables. Chi squared tests at 5% level of significance and 95% confidence interval were used to examine any association between disease status and socio-demographics and health-seeking behaviour. In this study, we defined appropriate health-seeking behaviour as patients having regular scheduled clinic visits with their health provider while inappropriate health-seeking behaviour was defined as not having regular scheduled clinic visits. We developed a multivariate logistic regression model and calculated adjusted odds ratios (OR) with 95% confidence intervals (CIs) to identify factors predicting appropriate health-seeking behaviour in this study. Variables with a p value less than 0.2 from the bivariate analysis were included in the multivariate model. We used a backward elimination method to individually drop variables that were not significant until a final model was derived.

3.2.5. Ethical Approval

Ethical approval to conduct this study was provided by the Institutional Review Board of Strathmore University, Nairobi Kenya approval number SU-IRB 0017/15. Approval was also obtained from the different County Departments of Health in Kenya. Furthermore, permission was sought from local community leaders before visiting the households. The purpose of the study, voluntary participation, data privacy and anonymity was explained to the participants in a language comfortable for them after which an informed consent form was signed.

3.3. Results

A total of 1100 participants (72.6% females) were included in this analysis. Hypertensive patients accounted for 69.8% of the study population while patients with diabetes accounted for 15.5%, with the remaining 14.7% having both diabetes and hypertension. The overall mean age of the participants was 64 (SD = 15) years, 62.5% of these were aged above 60 years. Half of the participants were married and about 60% were household heads. Approximately a quarter of respondents (24.6%) had some form of health insurance in their households with a

vast majority (>90%) being on the National Health Insurance Fund (NHIF), a Kenya government state corporation with a mandate to provide health insurance to Kenyans over the age of 18 [29], while a small proportion were on either community based medical cover or private health insurance cover (data not shown). There was some significant difference in age, gender, education level, ethnicity, having comorbidities and being in debt as a result of illness across the three disease status. A mmajority of those studied had only primary education, were Kikuyu, unemployed and were aged above 60 years. The social-demographic characteristics of the respondents are presented in Table 1.

	Diabetes	Hypertension		T ()	
Characteristics	N = 170 n	N = 768 n	Both $V = 1(2 - c_0/c_0)$	10tal N 1100 - (0/)	p- Value
	(%)	(%)	N = 102 n (%)	N = 1100 n (%)	value
Age group					0.009
Less than 40	18 (10.6)	56 (7.3)	2 (1.2)	76 (6.9)	
40 to 59	60 (35.3)	232 (30.2)	45 (27.8)	337 (30.6)	
60 to 79	73 (42.9)	381 (49.6)	95 (58.6)	549 (49.9)	
Above 80	19 (11.2)	99 (12.9)	20 (12.4)	138 (12.6)	
Mean age (SD), years	61 (16)	63 (15)	67 (12)	64 (15)	
Gender					< 0.001
Male	72 (42.4)	185 (24.0)	42 (25.9)	299 (27.2)	
Female	98 (57.6)	581 (75.7)	120 (74.1)	799 (72.6)	
Missing	0(0)	2 (0.3)	0 (0)	2 (0.2)	
Marital Status		, ,		. ,	
Single	25 (14.7)	69 (9.0)	15 (9.3)	109 (9.9)	0.276
Married	82 (48.2)	376(49.0)	87 (53.7)	545 (49.5)	
Widow/Widower/Divorced	63 (37.1)	321 (41.8)	60 (37.0)	444 (40.4)	
Missing	0(0)	2 (0.2)	0(0)	2 (0.2)	
Head of household		~ /			0.003
No	48 (28.2)	325 (42.3)	67 (41.4)	440 (40.0)	
Yes	122 (71.8)	442 (57.6)	95 (58.6)	659 (59.9)	
Missing	0(0)	1 (0.1)	0(0)	1 (0.1)	
Educational Level		~ /			< 0.001
No education	38 (22.4)	252 (32.8)	52 (32.1)	342 (31.1)	
Primary	74 (43.5)	335 (43.6)	75 (46.3)	484 (44.0)	
Sec/Post primary	38 (22.4)	123 (16.0)	23 (14.2)	184 (16.7)	
College and University	20(11.8)	30 (3.9)	7 (4.3)	57 (5.2)	
Others	0 (0.0)	28 (3.7)	5 (3.1)	33 (3.0)	
Ethnicity		- ()			< 0.001
Kikuvu	89 (52.4)	312 (40.6)	89 (54.9)	490 (44.6)	
Luo	37 (21.8)	130 (16.9)	23 (14.2)	190 (17.3)	
Meru	1 (0.6)	64 (8.3)	0 (0.0)	65 (5.9)	
Embu	16 (9.4)	139 (18.1)	28 (17.3)	183 (16.7)	
Kaleniin	21 (12.3)	87 (11.3)	19 (11.7)	127 (11.6)	
Others	6 (3.5)	34 (4.4)	3 (1.9)	43 (3.9)	
Missing	0(0)	2(0.3)	0(0)	2(0.2)	
Occupation	• (•)	_ (0.0)	÷ (•)	_ (**-)	0.147
Family farm/business	50 (29.6)	292 (38.1)	56 (33.9)	398 (36.2)	011 17
Skilled/unskilled worker	28 (16.6)	106 (13.8)	23 (13.9)	157 (14.3)	
Unemployed	67 (39.6)	301 (39.3)	73 (44.2)	441 (40.1)	
Missing	1 (0.6)	3 (0.4)	0(0)	4 (0.4)	
Health status	- (000)	2 (011)	• (•)	. ()	0.489
Good	63 (37.1)	258 (33.6)	47 (29)	368 (33.5)	01107
Average	86 (50.6)	399 (52.0)	85 (52.5)	570 (51.8)	
Poor	21 (12.3)	108 (14.0)	30 (18.5)	159 (14.4)	
Don't know	0(0)	3 (0.4)	0(0)	3 (0.3)	
Social support with illness	0 (0)	0 (011)	0 (0)	0 (0.0)	0.687
No	49 (28.8)	197 (25.6)	41 (25 3)	287 (261)	0.007
Yes	121(71.2)	568 (74)	121 (74 7)	810 (73.6)	
Missing	0(0)	3(04)	0(0)	3 (0 3)	
Comorbidity	~ (~)	2 (011)	~ (0)	2 (0.0)	0.006
No	128 (75 3)	538 (70.1)	98 (60 5)	764 (69 5)	0.000
Yes	39 (22 9)	222 (28.9)	63 (38.9)	324 (29 5)	
Missing	3(18)	8(1)	1 (0.6)	12(11)	
Debt due to illness	2 (1.0)	0(1)	1 (0.0)	12 (1.1)	0.036
No	135 (85 4)	597 (89 1)	139 (87 4)	871 (88 3)	0.030
Ves	16(10.1)	65 (97)	$10^{-10}(07.4)$	100 (10 1)	
Decline to answer	7(44)	8 (1 2)	1/(12)	16 (1 6)	
	· (+.+)	0 (1.2)	1 (0.0)	10 (1.0)	

Table 1: Socio-demographics of the respondents according to disease status.

Figure 2 shows about a third of the participants reported having other co-existing NCDs apart from hypertension and/or diabetes. Arthritis (16.7%) and peptic ulcer (6.1%) were the most frequently reported NCDs among participants.



Chronic Respiratory Disease (CRD)

Figure 2. Prevalent non-communicable diseases among study participants (n = 1100) with self-reported hypertension and/or diabetes.



Figure 3. Proportion of respondents reporting selected behavioural and biological risk factors for non-communicable diseases.

Current smokers constituted 2.8% of the respondents, of which 77.4% reported smoking daily. About 23.4% of the respondents reported having ever consumed alcohol in their lifetime; of these, 19.5% had consumed alcohol in the 12 months prior to the interview. Almost a third of the participants (28.7%) had a family history of hypertension, 18.0% a family history of diabetes, while 5.3% reported a family history of stroke. The majority of the respondents (89.7 %) were on allopathic treatment as indicated in Table 2. Only 1% reported being exclusively on traditional medicines, while approximately 9% were not on any form of treatment for their ailment at the time of the interview.

	Diabetes	Hypertension	Both	Total	
Characteristics	N = 170 n	$N = 768 \ n$	N = 162 n	N = 1100 n	<i>p</i> - Volue
	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)	value
Place of diagnosis					0.004
Mobile clinic/screening	5 (2.9)	56 (7.3)	4 (2.5)	65 (5.9)	
Private clinic/lab	55 (32.4)	169 (22)	52 (32.1)	276 (25.1)	
Public facility	107 (62.9)	533 (69.4)	104 (64.2)	744 (67.6)	
Others	3 (1.8)	10 (1.3)	2 (1.2)	15 (1.4)	
Treatment type					0.001
Allopathic treatment	158 (92.9)	670 (87.2)	159 (98.2)	987 (89.7)	
Traditional treatment	1 (0.6)	10 (1.3)	1 (0.6)	12 (1.1)	
Not on treatment	11 (6.5)	88 (11.5)	2 (1.2)	101 (9.2)	
Current source of treatment				· · ·	
Public hospital	75 (47.5)	309 (46.1)	67 (42.1)	451 (45.7)	0.429
Mission hospital	8 (5.1)	35 (5.2)	11 (6.9)	54 (5.5)	
Private hospital/clinic	14 (8.9)	78 (11.7)	18 (11.3)	110 (11.1)	
Pharmacy/chemist/shop	14 (8.9)	95 (14.2)	25 (15.7)	134 (13.6)	
others	47 (29.6)	153 (22.8)	38 (23.9)	238 (24.1)	
Regular/scheduled clinic	(_,,				
visits					
No	63 (39 9)	307 (45.8)	48 (30.2)	418 (42.4)	0.001
Yes	95 (60 1)	363 (54.2)	111 (69.8)	569 (57.6)	0.001
Last blood pressure check	<i>)5</i> (00.1)	505 (51.2)	111 (0).0)	507 (57.0)	<0.001
Less than a week	33 (19.4)	187(244)	13 (26 5)	263 (24.0)	<0.001
1 month	85 (50 0)	107 (24.4)	99(611)	203 (24.0) 602 (54.9)	
6 months	27(15.0)	418(34.0)	11 (6.8)	134(12.2)	
	27(13.9) 12(7.65)	50 (12.0)	8 (4 0)	134(12.2)	
Den't know	13(7.03) 12(7.1)	30(0.3)	0 (4.9) 1 (0.6)	71(0.3)	
Missing	12(7.1)	14(1.8)	1(0.0)	27(2.3)	
Lest blood av ger shoeld	0(0)	3 (0)	0(0)	3 (0)	<0.001
Last blood sugar check	20 (22 0)	94(11.0)	40 (24 7)	162(110)	< 0.001
Less than a week	39 (22.9) 07 (57.1)	34(11.0)	40(24.7)	105(14.8)	
1 month	97 (57.1)	219 (28.0)	98 (00.5)	414 (37.7)	
6 months	15 (8.8)	113 (14.7)	14 (8.6)	142 (12.9)	
I year or more	10 (5.9)	147 (19.7)	9 (5.6)	166 (15.1)	
Don't know	9 (5.3)	204 (26.6)	1 (0.6)	214 (19.5)	
Missing	0(0)	1 (0)	0(0)	1 (0)	0.001
Last eye check-up			0 (1 0)		< 0.001
Less than a week	6 (3.5)	33 (4.3)	8 (4.9)	47 (4.3)	
1 month	11 (6.5)	61 (8.0)	23 (14.2)	95 (8.7)	
6 months	12 (7.1)	59 (7.7)	13 (8.0)	84 (7.7)	
1 year or more	28 (16.5)	118 (15.4)	46 (28.4)	192 (17.5)	
Don't know	113 (66.5)	495 (64.6)	72 (44.4)	680 (61.9)	
Missing	0 (0)	2 (0)	0 (0)	2 (0)	
Admission last one year					0.001
No	151 (88.8)	713 (92.8)	135 (83.3)	999 (90.8)	
Yes	19 (11.2)	55 (7.2)	26 (16.1)	100 (9.1)	
Missing	0 (0)	0 (0)	1 (0.6)	1 (0.1)	
Health insurance					0.007
No	123 (72.3)	598 (77.9)	108 (66.7)	829 (75.4)	
Yes	47 (27.7)	168 (22.1)	54 (33.3.7)	271 (24.6)	

Table 2. Descript	tion of health-seeking	ng behaviour of	respondents by	disease status.

Some reasons for dropping out of treatment or not taking up treatment upon diagnosis included lack of finances, feeling better and health facilities being far away—see Table 3.

Reasons for non-treatment	Number	Percentage
No money for medication	38	37.6
Feeling better, don't think I need treatment anymore	30	29.7
Thinks that the disease is not serious	13	12.9
Treatment place too far	11	10.9
Disease got worse/no improvement/no hope of cure	8	7.9
Moved to other place	6	5.9
Not satisfied with treatment program	4	3.9
Medicines make me sick	4	3.9
Don't believe that I have the disease—feel alright	3	2.9
Advised by health provider	3	2.9
Too busy with daily business	2	1.9

Table 3. Reasons for not being on treatment (N = 101).

More than 100% as Some Respondents Offered More Than One Reason

The most commonly prescribed antidiabetic drugs were metformin 196 (66%) and glibenclamide 126 (42.4%), while the most common antihypertensive drugs were nifedipine 359 (49.5%) and hydrochlorothiazide 325 (44.8%), as shown in Tables 4 and 5. About 48% of the diabetic patients were on one type of drug only, while most of the hypertensive patients (45.2%) were on a combination of two or more drugs.

Name of drug	Number	Percentage **
Metformin	196	66.0
Glibenclamide	126	42.4
Insulin	44	14.8
Saxagliptin	3	1.0
Pioglitazone	3	1.0
Gliclazide, Sitagliptin, Glimepiride	Less than 1% of	on each of these drugs
Number of antidiabetic drugs per patient		
1	142	47.8
2	115	38.7
3	2	0.7
Missing	38	12.8

Table 4. Use of antidiabetic drugs in patients with diabetes (N = 297 *).

* Number of diabetic patients with medication, ** More than 100% as some respondents were on more than one drug.

Name of drug	Number	Percentage **
Nifedipine	359	49.5
Hydrchlorothiazide	325	44.8
Enalapril	132	18.2
Lorsatan	90	12.4
Atenolol	64	8.8
Furosemide	61	8.4
Amlodipine	39	5.4
Methyldopa	23	3.2
Spironolactone	11	1.5
Telmisartan, Lisinopril, Irbesartan, Propranolol, Carvedilol, Hydralazine,	T (1	10/
Vastarel, Nebivolol, Olmesartan, Candesartan Atacand, Indapamide,	Less than	1% on each of
Felodipine	the	ese drugs
Number of antihypertensive drugs per patient		
1	269	37.1
2	328	45.2
3	62	8.6
4 or more	11	1.5

Table 5. Use of antihypertensive drugs in patients with hypertension (N = 725 *).

* Number of hypertensive patients with medication, ** More than 100% as some respondents were on more than one drug.

The majority of the patients (67.6%) were diagnosed and 45.7% accessed care from a public health facility (District/Sub-district hospital, Health Center/Dispensary). A large proportion of respondents, (>90%) indicated having blood pressure and blood glucose checks during the last six months prior to the interview. More than half (57.9%) of the respondents reported having regular/scheduled clinic visits. Almost every tenth participant had been admitted to the hospital during the last year. Variables selected for multivariate analysis included; marital status, age group, ethnicity, having social support during treatment, source of treatment, family history of hypertension, alcohol use status and having health insurance. After conducting the multivariate analyses, we found that having support during treatment (OR 2.46, 95% CI; 1.81–3.35), having a high self-rated health status (OR 1.77, 95% CI; 1.16–2.70), being hospitalized in the last year (OR 2.06, 95% CI; 1.27-3.36) were positive predictors of appropriate seeking behaviour while using a pharmacy or chemist as a source of care (OR 0.42, 95% CI; 0.28–0.63) and alcohol consumption (OR 0.71, 95% CI; 0.52–0.98) were negative predictors of health-seeking behaviour for this study population as shown in Table 6. Variables adjusted for in the final model included having social support during treatment, self-rated health status, treatment source, alcohol use and having been admitted in the last year. A disease status-stratified multivariable analysis (detailed data not presented in this paper) revealed that having social support during treatment was a significant predictor of appropriate health-seeking behaviour among participants with diabetes only, hypertension only, both diabetes and hypertension and overall. Among those with hypertension only, we found that, participants having a family history of stroke were more likely to have appropriate health-seeking behaviour compared to those without (OR 2.69, 95% CI; 1.21–5.99). With regards to ethnicity and health seeking behaviour, we found that ethnicity was only significantly associated with health seeking behaviour for hypertension and not diabetes or having both conditions Among participants with both hypertension and diabetes, being employed as an agricultural worker, skilled or unskilled worker (OR 0.34, 95% CI; 0.13–0.88) was significantly associated with poor health-seeking behaviour compared to those who were unemployed. Those with both diabetes and hypertension and working in family businesses or farms showed a similar trend (OR 0.42, 95% CI; 0.17–1.03) although the association was not significant.

Characteristics	Inappropriate N = 418 n (%)	Appropriate N = 569 n (%)	Crude OR (95% CI)	<i>p</i> Value	Adjusted OR (95% CI)	<i>p</i> Value
Social support with illness *					,	
No	143 (34.3)	97 (17.1)		Refe	rence	
Yes	274 (65.7)	471 (82.9)	2.53	< 0.00	2.46	< 0.001
Health status *			(1.00-3.41)	1	(1.81–3.33)	
Poor	73 (17.5)	67 (11.8)	1.75	Refe	rence	
Average	217 (51.9)	296 (52.1)	1.75 (1.17–2.60)	0.006	(1.02-2.26)	0.038
Good	128 (30.6)	205 (36.1)	(1.02-2.16)	0.038	1.77	0.008
Current source of treatment *	178 (42 ()	272 (47.0)	(Dafa	()	
Public nospital	178 (42.0)	273 (47.9)	1.86	Rele	1.51	
Mission hospital	14 (3.4)	40 (7.0)	(0.99–3.52)	0.056	(0.78–2.89)	0.219
Private hospital/clinic	44 (10.5)	66 (11.6)	0.98 (0.64–1.50)	0.918	$\begin{array}{c} 0.90 \\ (0.58 - 1.40) \\ 0.42 \end{array}$	0.637
Pharmacy/chemist/sh op	83 (19.9)	51 (8.9)	(0.40) (0.27-0.60)	<0.00 1	0.42 (0.28–0.63)	< 0.001
others	99 (23.7)	139 (24.4)	(0.92)	0.588	(0.65 - 1.27)	0.569
Admission last one year *					(,	
No	392 (93.8)	498 (87.5)	2 1 2	Refe	rence	
Yes	26 (6.2)	70 (12.3)	(1.32-3.39)	0.002	(1.27–3.36)	0.004
Alcohol status * No	308 (73.7)	451 (79.3)		Refe	rence	
Yes	110 (26.3)	118 (20.7)	0.73	0.040	0.71	0.002
Age group			(0.34–0.98)		(0.32–0.98)	
Less than 40	21 (5)	40 (7)		Refe	rence	
40 to 59	125 (29.9)	178 (31.3)	0.75 (0.42–1.33)	0.322		
60 to 79	204 (48.8)	291 (51.1)	0.75 (0.43–1.31)	0.310		
Above 80	68 (16.3)	60 (10.5)	(0.25-0.87)	0.017		
Gender						
Female			Referen	ce		
Male	101 (24.2)	162 (28.5)	(0.94–1.67)	0.132		
Marital Status Single	37 (8.9)	55 (9.7)	Referen	ce		
Married	186 (44.6)	304 (53.5)	1.00 (0.7-1.73)	0.683		
Widow/Widower/Di vorced	194 (46.5)	209 (36.8)	0.72 (0.46–1.15)	0.170		
Ethnicity Kikuyu	189 (45.3)	261 (46)	Referen	ce		
Luo	69 (16.6)	96 (16.9)	1.01 (0.70–1.45)	0.968		
Meru	11 (2.6)	36 (6.3)	2.37	0.016		

Table 6.	Factors	associated	with	health-seeking	behaviour	among	respondents	with
diabetes	and/or	hypertensio	on.					

			(1.17–4.78)	
Embu	86 (20.6)	93 (16.4)	0.78 (0.55–1.11)	0.168
Kalenjin	42 (10.1)	66 (11.6)	(0.03 - 1.11) 1.14 (0.74-1.75)	0.556
Others	20 (4.8)	16 (2.8)	0.58 (0.29–1.15)	0.117
Smoking status				
No	405 (96.9)	558 (98.1)	Reference	ce
Yes	13 (3.1)	11 (1.9)	0.61 (0.27–1.38)	0.240
Family history of hypertension	274 (65.6)	351 (61.7)		
No	112 (26.8)	177 (31.1)		
Yes	274 (65.6)	351 (61.7)	1.23 (0.92–1.64)	0.148
Health insurance				
No	316 (75.6)	410 (72.1)	Reference	ce
Yes	102 (24.4)	159 (27.9)	1.20 (0.90–1.60)	0.213

*Final model adjusted for these variables

Respondents were asked if they had ever been visited at home in the last year by a Community Health Volunteer (CHV) and 26.7% had received a home visitation by CHV. Table 7 shows the topics the respondents mentioned having discussed the CHVs during home visitation.

Table 7. Education topics discussed with community health volunteer N = 294.

Education topics	Number	Percentage
Education on diabetes disease	78	26.5
Education on hypertension	158	53.7
Education on lifestyle change	63	21.4
Education on nutrition	78	26.5
Education on adherence to medication	63	21.4

More than 100% as some respondent had more than one topic

3.4. Discussion

This study assessed healthcare-seeking behaviour among respondents with diabetes and/or hypertension living in selected community health units across nine counties in rural Kenya and revealed the following main findings: (1) the majority of the hypertensive and/or diabetic patients (almost 90%) reported being on conventional treatment and 85% were able to produce their medication for verification; (2) more than half (58%) of the respondents had regular scheduled clinic visit with their health care provider; (3) diagnosis and treatment for the diseases were mainly sought in public health facilities; (4) respondents self-rated their health status as good (compared to poor health status), having social support during treatment, and being hospitalized were positively associated with appropriate health-seeking behaviour, while using a pharmacy or a chemist as a source of treatment and alcohol consumption were negatively associated with appropriate health-seeking behaviour.

Our findings that the majority of the respondents being on medication are similar to a recent study conducted in similar settings in Kenya which found, among participants diagnosed with hypertension, approximately 73.3% had their medications at home [30, 31]. However, they differ with those reported in the 2015 Kenya Stepwise survey for NCDs risk factors where they found among those diagnosed with hypertension, only 22%, while among those diagnosed with diabetes only 40% were on medication [9]. Another study conducted in Cambodia on access to treatment for diabetes and hypertension also reported a considerably lower proportion, with 51% of the respondents being on conventional medicines [17]. We observed a very small proportion (1.1%) of the respondents who were on traditional medicines; this was similar to the Kenya Stepwise survey for NCD which reported a 1% of the hypertensive and 4.5% of the diabetics using traditional medicines [9]. Similar to other studies, we found that the most commonly prescribed antihypertensive were calcium channel blockers and thiazides [30, 32]. For the antidiabetic medication, the most common drugs used by the study population were biguanides (metformin) followed by sulphonylureas (glibenclamide) which is similar to those reported by Yunus and colleagues (2018) in a study conducted in Malaysia [33].

The majority of the participants in our study were diagnosed in public health facilities. Our finding on diabetes diagnosis are in contrast with a study conducted by Wirtz et al. (2018) on access to treatment for diabetes, asthma and hypertension in Kenya [31] where they found majority of diabetes diagnoses were made in private facilities compared to public facilities as a result of the high cost of diagnosing diabetes. The preference in this population for using public health facilities for diagnosis and treatment could be a direct consequence of the type of facilities available in the areas that were predominantly rural and perhaps also a patient's

capacity to pay for services since government facilities are cheaper compared to private facilities. It also emphasizes the need to strengthen the public health care system in order to reduce inequality in accessing care for the poor.

Approximately 57.9% of the respondents reported having scheduled clinic visits to manage their condition. Although in our study we did not assess the frequency of the scheduled clinic visits, a similar proportion of 50% was reported for monthly scheduled clinic visits among diabetics in a cross-sectional survey conducted in Lesotho [34]. The high proportion of respondents with medication at home, scheduled clinic visits and regular blood sugar and blood pressure checks shows good self-reported health-seeking behavior in this study population. Our findings do not differ much with a household survey on access to treatment for diabetes and hypertension conducted in Brazil where they reported 85.4% and 70.2% of the diabetic and hypertensive participants having had their blood pressure and blood glucose checked in the last six months prior to the survey [35].

The association between social support and appropriate health-seeking behavior for chronic conditions has been documented [36, 37]. Results from this study show that respondents who had a good support system during treatment were 2.5-times more likely to have appropriate health-seeking behaviour for their condition. The finding that respondents who reported having hospital admission in the last one year were twice as likely to seek care is in line with the health belief model which states that a person's willingness to change behaviour is determined by several factors including perceived severity [38]. A hospital admission might therefore cause a patient to consider their worsening condition and hence seek care more.

Smoking and alcohol consumption were not common among the respondents, as 97.2% reported having never smoked and 76.7% had never consumed alcohol. Our findings were similar to those reported in a cross-sectional study assessing prevalence of undiagnosed diabetes among hypertensive patients conducted in Kiambu, Kenya, where they found 89% and 70% of the participants had never smoked or consumed alcohol respectfully [39]. However, the small proportion of respondents who smoked in our study could also be due to the fact that majority of our study participants were women (72.8%). The Kenya Stepwise survey of 2015 reported an overall prevalence of tobacco use to be 13% with a higher prevalence among men (22%) compared to women (4%).

The lack of health insurance or some form of group financial risk pooling has been documented as a barrier to accessing care especially for the rural population. This is because in the absence of health insurance, patients have to pay out of pocket even for the subsidized fee at the government facility in order to access care. We report in this study a high prevalence (75.4%) of non-insurance among the households of the respondents. Similar findings have been reported in Western Kenya among diabetic patients where 83% reported not having health insurance [25]. Although a small percentage of the participants, 9.8% reported being in debt due to illness, and this is likely to be an under estimation because patients might avoid visiting health facilities even when there is a real need as a cost-prevention strategy as reported elsewhere [40]. The low level of debt reported among our respondents might also be due to the fact that other family members and relatives may be helping pay the bills for care. Several studies have documented cost/affordability as a barrier for access to care for people with NCDs [30, 31]. Our study builds on this evidence and found that lack of finances was the most frequently mentioned reason (in almost 40%) for dropping out of treatment or not initiating treatment upon diagnosis.

Also worthwhile noting is that a significant number of respondents, 30% indicated dropping out of treatment as a result of feeling better and, therefore, not needing treatment any more or thinking the disease was not serious. While the majority of the respondents reported a good health-seeking behaviour, this finding highlights that the need for patient education and counseling both at the clinic and community level remains. The Kenyan government rolled out a primary health care model (CHS) in 2006 with CHVs and community health extension workers as the main implementers at the household level. However, our study observed a low prevalence of household visitations by the CHVs (27.3%). Chronic conditions such as diabetes and hypertension affect patients over a long period of their life, therefore, there is the need to leverage on the existing close-to-community networks such as CHVs, in order to provide selfmanagement support to those diagnosed with chronic illness [21, 25]. For the Familia Nawiri Community Health Worker partnership program with the various County Ministries of health in Kenya to be a success, there is a need to explore the barriers to household visitations as the program relies on the CHVs visiting the households and educating the households on prevention and management of chronic diseases in order to improve health outcomes. While many studies on chronic illness such as diabetes and hypertension have focused on the urban or urban poor population given the association between urbanization and NCDs, our study provides unique data on the health-seeking behaviour of the rural population diagnosed with hypertension and diabetes. These findings can be used to tailor interventions that are relevant to the rural settings.

Our study has some limitations. First, self-reporting of outcomes measures for healthseeking behaviour was used in this study and, therefore, may have the disadvantage of recall bias. In addition, self-reporting could also lead to an over estimation of health-seeking behaviour since participants are more likely to give socially acceptable answers. An additional limitation is the fact that participants were not randomly selected; instead, a convenient sampling method of selecting participants was used and, therefore, results cannot be generalized. Finally, this being a cross-sectional study it is not possible to infer causation for some of the outcome measures.

3.5. Conclusions

This study reports a high prevalence of appropriate health-seeking behaviour among respondents with reported diabetes and/or hypertension. Our findings also indicate that the majority of the rural respondents obtain care from government facilities. This implies a need to strengthen the public health facilities in order to protect the poor and the marginalized communities who depend on them for the management of their chronic conditions. We also noted a low prevalence of health insurance coverage which would further expose chronic patients to catastrophic spending or failure to access care in order to avoid debt.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, M.K., G.P., R.S., M.T. and B.O.; Data curation, M.K.; Formal analysis, M.K.; Funding acquisition, G.P. and M.T.; Methodology, M.K., G.P., R.S., M.T. and B.O.; Writing—original draft, M.K.; Writing—review and editing, M.K., G.P., R.S., M.T. and B.O.

Funding:

Acknowledgments: This work was supported by a grant from Novartis Pharma, grant number 20160229/3. We are grateful to the county departments of health across the nine counties in Kenya where this study was conducted for a good collaboration during this study. We would also like to acknowledge the community health extension workers, community health volunteers, local leaders and data collectors who assisted in community entry and recruitment of participants. Finally we thank all the participants who took part in this study.

Conflicts of interest: RS and GP were employed by Novartis at the time of this study. MK was supported by a grant from Novartis Pharma. The authors declare that they have no other competing interests.

3.6. References

- Onyango, M.J.; Kombe, I.; Nyamongo, D.S.; Mwangi, M. A study to determine the prevalence and factors associated with hypertension among employees working at a call centre Nairobi Kenya. *Pan Afr. Med. J.* 2017, 27, 178.
- 2. Benziger, C.P.; Roth, G.A.; Moran, A.E. The global burden of disease study and the preventable burden of NCD. *Glob. Heart* **2016**, *11*, 393–397.
- World Health Organization. Global Health Estimates 2016: Deaths by Cause, Age, Sex, by Country and by Region, 2000–2016; World Health Organization: Geneva, Switzerland, 2018.
- Olowe, O.A.; Ross, A.J. Knowledge, adherence and control among patients with hypertension attending a peri-urban primary health care clinic, KwaZulu-Natal. *Afr. J. Prim. Health Care Fam. Med.* 2017, 9, 1–5.
- Pradeepa, R. The rising burden of diabetes and hypertension in southeast asian and african regions: Need for effective strategies for prevention and control in primary health care settings. *Int. J. Hypertens.* 2013, 2013, 14.
- International Diabetes Federation. *IDF Diabetes Atlas*, 7th ed.; International Diabetes Federation: Brussels, Belgium, 2015.
- Matheka, D.M.; Nderitu, J.; Vedanthan, R.; Demaio, A.R.; Murgor, M.; Kajana, K.; Loyal, P.; Alkizim, F.O.; Kishore, S.P. Young professionals for health development: The Kenyan experience in combating non-communicable diseases. *Glob. Health Action* 2013, *6*, 22461.
- Kenya National Bureau of Statistics. Kenya Stepwise Survey for Non-Communicable Diseases Risk Factors; 2015 Report; Kenya National Bureau of Statistics: Nairobi, Kenya, 2015.
- Christensen, D.L.; Friis, H.; Mwaniki, D.; Kilonzo, B.; Tetens, I.; Boit, M.; Omondi, B.; Kaduka, L.; Borch-Johnsen, K. Prevalence of glucose intolerance and associated risk factors in rural and urban populations of different ethnic groups in Kenya. *Diabetes Res. Clin. Pr.* 2009, *84*, 303–310.
- Joshi, M.D.; Ayah, R.; Njau, E.K.; Wanjiru, R.; Kayima, J.K.; Njeru, E.K.; Mutai, K.K. Prevalence of hypertension and associated cardiovascular risk factors in an urban slum in Nairobi, Kenya: A population-based survey. *BMC Public Health* 2014, *14*, 1177.
- Hendriks, M.E.; Wit, F.W.; Roos, M.T.; Brewster, L.M.; Akande, T.M.; De Beer, I.H.; Mfinanga, S.G.; Kahwa, A.M.; Gatongi, P.; Van Rooy, G. Hypertension in sub-Saharan Africa: Cross-sectional surveys in four rural and urban communities. *PloS ONE* 2012, *7*, 32638.

- Pastakia, S.D.; Ali, S.M.; Kamano, J.H.; Akwanalo, C.O.; Ndege, S.K.; Buckwalter, V.L.; Vedanthan, R.; Bloomfield, G.S. Screening for diabetes and hypertension in a rural low income setting in western Kenya utilizing home-based and community-based strategies. *Glob. Health* 2013, 9, 21.
- 13. Kengne, A.P.; Mayosi, B.M. Readiness of the primary care system for non-communicable diseases in sub-Saharan Africa. *Lancet Glob. Health* **2014**, *2*, 247–248.
- Olukoya, O. The war against non-communicable disease: How ready is Nigeria? Ann. Ib. Postgrad. Med. 2017, 15, 1–2.
- Crampin, A.C.; Kayuni, N.; Amberbir, A.; Musicha, C.; Koole, O.; Tafatatha, T.; Branson, K.; Saul, J.; Mwaiyeghele, E.; Nkhwazi, L. Hypertension and diabetes in Africa: Design and implementation of a large population-based study of burden and risk factors in rural and urban Malawi. *Emerg. Themes Epidemiol.* 2016, *13*, 3.
- Bigdeli, M.J.B.; Men, C.R.; Nilsen, K.; Van Damme, W.; Dujardin, B. Access to Treatment for Diabetes and Hypertension in Rural Cambodia: Performance of Existing Social Health Protection Schemes. *PloS ONE* 2016, *11*, 0146147.
- Samb, B.; Desai, N.; Nishtar, S.; Mendis, S.; Bekedam, H.; Wright, A.; Hsu, J.; Martiniuk, A.; Celletti, F.; Patel, K. Prevention and management of chronic disease: A litmus test for health-systems strengthening in low-income and middle-income countries. *Lancet* 2010, *376*, 1785–1797.
- JO, F.; Olowokere, A.; Ayamolowo, S.; Faronbi, G.; Adebiyi, M. Health Seeking Behaviour and Perception of Quality of Care among Patients with Chronic Diseases in a Nigerian Teaching Hospital. *Joj Nurse Health Care* 2017, *5*, 6.
- Wang, Q.;Brenner, S.; Leppert, G.; Banda, T.H.; Kalmus, O.; De Allegri, M. Health seeking behaviour and the related household out-of-pocket expenditure for chronic noncommunicable diseases in rural Malawi. *Health Policy Plan.* 2014, *30*, 242–252.
- Beaglehole, R.; Epping-Jordan, J.; Patel, V.; Chopra, M.; Ebrahim, S.; Kidd, M.; Haines, A. Improving the prevention and management of chronic disease in low-income and middle-income countries: A priority for primary health care. *Lancet* 2008, *372*, 940–949.
- Jaspers, L.; Colpani, V.; Chaker, L.; van der Lee, S.J.; Muka, T.; Imo, D.; Mendis, S.; Chowdhury, R.; Bramer, W.M.; Falla, A. The global impact of non-communicable diseases on households and impoverishment: A systematic review. *Eur. J. Epidemiol.* 2015, 30, 163–188.
- 22. Epping-Jordan, J.; Pruitt, S.; Bengoa, R.; Wagner, E.H. Improving the quality of health care for chronic conditions. *BMJ Qual. Saf.* **2004**, *13*, 299–305.

- 23. Higuchi, M. Lifestyle Diseases: Access to Chronic Disease Care in Low-and Middle-Income Countries. *Un Chron.* **2010**, *47*, 2.
- O'Hara, E.G.; Nuche-Berenguer, B.; Kirui, N.K.; Cheng, S.Y.; Chege, P.M.; Buckwalter, V.; Laktabai, J.; Pastakia, S.D. Diabetes in rural Africa: What can Kenya show us? *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol.* 2016, *4*, 807–809.
- Bovet, P.; Gervasoni, J.-P.; Mkamba, M.; Balampama, M.; Lengeler, C.; Paccaud, F. Low utilization of health care services following screening for hypertension in Dar es Salaam (Tanzania): A prospective population-based study. *BMC Public Health* 2008, *8*, 407.
- Bigdeli, M.; Peters, D.H.; Wagner, A.K. Organization WHO: Medicines in Health Systems: Advancing Access, Affordability and Appropriate Use. World Health Organization: Geneva, Switzerland, 2014.
- Hartung, C.; Lerer, A.; Anokwa, Y.; Tseng, C.; Brunette, W.; Borriello, G. Open Data Kit: Tools to Build Information Services for Developing Regions. In Proceedings of the 4th ACM/IEEE International Conference on Information and Communication Technologies and Development (ACM 2010), London, UK, 13–16 December 2010; p. 18.
- 28. National Health Insurance Fund. Available online: http://www.nhif.or.ke/healthinsurance/Objectives (accessed on).
- Syed, N.; Rockers, P.C.; Vian, T.; Onyango, M.; Laing, R.O.; Wirtz, V.J. Access to Antihypertensive Medicines at the Household Level. A Study From 8 Counties of Kenya. *Glob. Heart* 2018, 13, 247–253.
- Wirtz, V.J.; Turpin, K.; Laing, R.O.; Mukiira, C.K.; Rockers, P.C. Access to medicines for asthma, diabetes and hypertension in eight counties of Kenya. *Trop. Med. Int. Health* 2018, 23, 879–885.
- Mutua, E.M.; Gitonga, M.M.; Mbuthia, B.; Muiruri, N.; Cheptum, J.J.; Maingi, T. Level of blood pressure control among hypertensive patients on follow-up in a Regional Referral Hospital in Central Kenya. *Pan Afr. Med J.* 2014, 18.
- 32. Yunus, S.Z.S.A.; Binti Musa, N.S.E.; Sapian, R.A.; Azahar, A.; Binti Zainuddin, N.A. Anti-diabetic drugs utilization pattern and its cost in managing Type 2 Diabetes patients in hospitals in Selangor, Malaysia. *Inf. Med. Unlocked* **2018**, *13*, 21–25.
- 33. Makinga, P.; Beke, A. A cross-sectional survey on the lifestyle and healthseeking behaviour of Basotho patients with diabetes. *South Afr. Fam. Pr.* **2013**, *55*, 190–195.
- Bersusa, A.A.S.; Pascalicchio, Á.E.; Pessoto, U.C.; Escuder, M.M.L. Access of hypertension and/or diabetes patients to healthcare services in Baixada Santista. *Rev. Bras. De Epidemiol.* 2010, 13, 513–522.

- 35. Feng, D.; Serrano, R.; Ye, T.; Tang, S.; Duan, L.; Xu, Y.; Yang, J.; Liang, Y.; Chen, S.; Feng, Z. What contributes to the regularity of patients with hypertension or diabetes seeking health services? A pilot follow-up, observational study in two sites in Hubei province, China. *Int. J. Env. Res. Public Health* **2016**, *13*, 1268.
- Inche Zainal Abidin, S.; Sutan, R.; Shamsuddin, K. Prevalence and determinants of appropriate health seeking behaviour among known diabetics: Results from a communitybased survey. *Adv. Epidemiol.* 2014, 2014, 7.
- Nguma, L.K. Health Seeking and Health Related Behaviour for Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus Among Adults in an Urban Community in Tanzania. Ph.D. Thesis, University of Otago, Otago, New Zealand, 2010.
- Meme, N.; Amwayi, S.; Nganga, Z.; Buregyeya, E. Prevalence of undiagnosed diabetes and pre-diabetes among hypertensive patients attending Kiambu district Hospital, Kenya: A cross-sectional study. *Pan Afr. Med J.* 2015, 22, 286.
- Chuma, J.; Gilson, L.; Molyneux, C. Treatment-seeking behaviour, cost40 burdens and coping strategies among rural and urban households in Coastal Kenya: An equity analysis. *Trop. Med. Int. Health* 2007, 12, 673–686.

4. Evaluation of a Community Health Worker Maternal Child Health Improvement Program-Results from a Baseline Survey

Miriam Karinja^{1, 2, 3}, Goonaseelan (Colin) Pillai⁴, Raymond Schlienger⁵, Marcel Tanner^{1, 2}, Bernhards Ogutu^{3, 6}

¹Swiss Tropical and Public Health Institute, Basel, Switzerland, ²University of Basel, Basel, Switzerland, ³Center for Research in Therapeutic Sciences (CREATES), Strathmore University, Nairobi, Kenya, ⁴CP+ Associates GmbH, Basel, Switzerland, ⁵Quantitative Safety and Epidemiology, Chief Medical Office & Patient Safety, Novartis Pharma AG, Basel, Switzerland, ⁶Centre for Clinical Research, Kenya Medical Research Institute, Nairobi, Kenya

This chapter is being prepared for submission.

4.1. Abstract

Background: Kenya has high maternal, newborn and child morbidity and mortality rates. Estimates from the Kenya Demographic Health Survey 2014, indicate maternal mortality rate of 362 deaths per 100,000 live births. Approximately half of the women deliver at home without skilled care and do not attend the recommended four antenatal care visits. Community Health Workers (CHWs) have been shown to be effective in increasing uptake of healthcare services, supporting and encouraging women and households to make healthier decisions and access care. The overall aim of this study is to provide baseline maternal child health indicators against which to monitor and assess the effectiveness of a community health worker program implemented through a public private partnership in rural parts of Kenya.

Methods/design: To evaluate the effectiveness of the CHW program, a quasi-experimental design with before and after cross-sectional household surveys are being used in the intervention ad control sites. The study is conducted in selected community health units across nine counties in Kenya. Cluster sampling technique was used to identify households as the primary sampling unit for this study.

Results: A total of 3735 households participated in the study. Majority of the households had male head of the household 84.16%. We report an overall high prevalence of 97% in ANC attendance across the sites. Only 22% of the mothers had their first ANC visit during their first trimester. Overall there was low knowledge of danger signs in pregnancy and newborn and birth preparedness among the respondents. Approximately 11% of the mothers reported having delivered at home during their last pregnancy.

Conclusion:

The findings provide evidence on the need to make use of both community based health education initiatives and facility based to emphasis the need for early ANC attendance and to educate women on the importance birth preparedness and complications readiness.

Keywords: Community health worker, maternal, birth preparedness, antenatal clinic, access, health services.

4.2. Background

Despite significant progress in reducing mortality, maternal and newborn deaths remain unacceptably high globally [1]. Approximately 536,000 women die every year worldwide as a result of pregnancy and childbirth complications. Of these deaths, approximately 50% occur in Africa and 35% in South Asia. In 2005, the lifetime risk of a woman dying from a maternal related issue in Sub-Saharan Africa was estimated to be 1 out of 22 while the risk of a woman in a developed country dying under similar circumstances was disparately lower at 1 out of 7300 [2]. In the past, many efforts have been directed towards increasing skilled birth attendance in order to improve pregnancy and newborns outcomes which led to an increase in the number of hospital deliveries in developing countries from 56% in 1990 to 68% in 2012 [1]. The World Health Organization (WHO) defines a skilled birth attendant as an accredited health professional such as a midwife, doctor or a nurse who has been educated and trained to proficiency in the skills needed to manage normal/uncomplicated pregnancies, childbirth and the immediate postnatal period, and in the identification, management and referral of complications in women and newborns[3].

Most maternal deaths in developing countries are mainly due to three delays including: delay in making decision to seek care, delay in getting to the health facility, and delay in receiving the appropriate care[4, 5]. In order to address these delays, it is important for health workers to educate mothers on preparation that should happen prior to delivery. Birth preparedness and complication readiness (BPCR) is a strategy employed to encourage the use of skilled maternal and neonatal care during delivery and thus reduce these delays. Such preparations include selecting a skilled attendant for the delivery, selecting a health facility for the delivery, arranging travel plans to the facility and saving money [6-8].

The Kenya Demographic Health Survey (KDHS) of 2014, showed improved maternal, newborn and child health outcomes from 2003 to 2014. For example, the annual infant mortality has decreased from 52 to 39 per 1,000 live births; under-five mortality has also decreased from 74 to 52 per 1,000 live births, from 2003 to 2014. Similarly, neonatal mortality has decreased from 31 to 22 per 1,000 live births and maternal mortality has decreased from 488 to 362 per 100,000 live births over the same period of time [9-11].

The World Health Organization (WHO) recommends that pregnant mothers should attend four or more antenatal clinic (ANC) visits to ensure the health of the mother and the child. This prenatal care is more effective when received during the first trimester of pregnancy and continued throughout the pregnancy [12, 13]. ANC provides the opportunity to educate the

pregnant mothers on danger signs during pregnancy and delivery, preparation of birth plan and the importance of delivery under skilled attendant[8]. The KDHS 2014 showed there was improvement in the number of women attending ANC under skilled personnel from 92% in 2008 to 96% in 2014. However, only 58% of the women had the recommended minimum of four ANC visits. Although at a national level the KDHS 2014 showed improvements, there still remain challenges in addressing geographical, urban/rural and socioeconomic inequalities and disparities [10].

Research has shown there is a positive link between the density of health workers and improving health outcomes such as infant, under-fives and maternal mortality and morbidity [14-16]. A 2006 WHO report, entitled "Working Together for Health", estimated the shortage of health workers in the world to be approximately 4.3 million and the shortage is more severe in low and middle income countries [17]. This shortage poses a challenge in achieving the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) adopted by the global community in 2015 including a target of reducing maternal mortality to less than 70 deaths per 100,000 live births and less than 25 deaths per 1000 live births among the under-fives by 2030 [18-20].

In response to this global health worker shortage, there is a shift towards utilizing alternative cadres who can adequately deal with common health problems and improve equitable access to health services for all [21]. In particular, community health workers (CHWs) form such an alternative cadre to address the shortage of professional health workers [22, 23]. The WHO defines CHWs as paraprofessionals who live in the communities they serve, are selected by the community, are accountable to the same community, have a short and defined training and are not necessarily attached to a formal institution [24]. They mainly function at the household and community level providing essential health services, thereby acting as a bridge between the community and the more skilled health care workers and the health facility based services [25, 26]. Given the overwhelming body of evidence on the impact of CHW interventions leading to positive health outcomes among different populations [27-31], a lot of countries are scaling up CHW-based programs in order to improve health outcomes [28, 32].

Community Health Strategy in Kenya

The government of Kenya launched the Community Health Strategy (CHS) in 2006 as a means to expand community access to healthcare services [33, 34]. The provision of health services to the communities is focused around a Community Health Unit (CHU) also termed as level one of the Kenyan health system[35]. A CHU serves a catchment population of 5,000 people

(approximately 1000 households) through a network of community health extension workers (CHEWs), community health volunteers (CHVs) and community health committees (CHCs). The main implementers of the community health strategy in Kenya at the household level are CHVs [36]. The tasks performed by the CHVs falls into three main categories namely, disease prevention and control, family health services and hygiene and environmental sanitation[37]. The CHEWs who are usually trained formal health personnel such as nurses or public health officers employed by the government provide direct supervision, training and mentorship to the CHVs thus creating a link between the CHVs and the local health facilities[34]. The implementation of CHS by government has however been marked by various challenges including lack of resources, lack of community ownership, lack of supportive supervision and high attrition among others. This has led to the collapse of established CHUs as well as hindered establishment of new ones. To fill this implementation gap, Familia Nawiri (a Novartis Social Venture in Kenya) in partnership with Ministries of health in nine counties of Kenya developed a CHW program to implement CHS in selected areas within these counties. Components of the program includes establishment of new CHUs, adoption of collapsed or semi-functional CHUs, building capacity and competencies of the CHEWs, CHVs, putting governance structures of the CHUs in place, mapping and registration of all households in the CHUs and provision of promotive, curative and preventative services at the households as per CHS implementation guidelines. In this paper we present findings of a study conducted to establish maternal child health indicators at baseline for evaluating impact of the CHW program.

4.3. Methods

4.3.1. Study design

To assess the effectiveness of the program implemented based on a quasi-experimental design; a cross-sectional survey was used prior and after the implementation in the intervention and comparison sites.

4.3.2. Study setting

The study setting includes nine out of the 47 Counties in Kenya namely Bomet, Embu, Kericho, Kirinyaga, Meru, Migori, Nairobi, Nakuru and Siaya. The Counties were purposively selected based on the fact that Familia Nawiri has on-going activities in those counties and therefore would allow leveraging on existing infrastructure and resources. Within each County, two CHUs were selected to serve as intervention sites and two other CHUs to serves as comparison sites, with the exception of Kirinyaga County which had six intervention CHUs and six

comparison CHUs as the program has a presence in 3 different geographical areas in this county. The comparison CHUs were selected and matched on the basis of similarity in geographical location, ethnicity, means of earning a livelihood, having health facilities similar to those in the intervention sites, CHUs established around the same time as the intervention site and similar functionality status of the CHUs. In total, there were 22 intervention and 22 comparison CHUs. The total target population for both the intervention and non-intervention areas is estimated at approximately 220,000 inhabitants and 44,000 households given that every CHU covers approximately 1,000 households with an average household density of 5 people per household.

4.3.3. Sample size estimation

To estimate sample size for the baseline survey, we assumed a low initial coverage of 35% of the main indicator variable (4+ ANC visits) across all counties, 5% level of precision, 80% power and 95% confidence interval. This would result in a minimum of 356 mothers with at least a child below 2 years in each of the 10 sites (minimum of 3567). Accounting for a 10% non-response, the targeted sample size was 3924. The sample size was determined to establish an effect of at least 10% change (moderate effect size [38]) in coverage all maternal indicators as a result of the intervention using formula by Demidenko [39].

4.3.4. Sampling technique

We used a two-stage cluster sampling design involving the following steps: The first stage was randomly selecting clusters, whereby a cluster was defined as a village. A total of 272 (60%) villages (clusters) were selected to increase randomness of the sample. Of the 272 villages, 142 were in the intervention sites while 130 were in the comparison sites. The sampling frame was developed by obtaining the list of villages in each CHU from the CHEWs. In the second stage, a household served as a proxy sampling unit and was defined as people living and cooking together (eating from the same pot). All the households in selected villages were surveyed and those that were eligible and willing to take part in the study were included. A household was eligible if there was a mother with a child aged below two years.

4.3.5. Measurements

The baseline household survey focused on several indicators within the continuum of care of maternal, newborn and child health. These are indicators concerning utilization of health services for antenatal care, delivery care, postnatal care, family planning, childhood morbidity and care seeking behaviour for childhood illnesses. Other information collected included demographic characteristics such as age, gender, education level and marital status, household
characteristics, such as sources of water and toilet facilities. Also, of interest was access to any form of health insurance and previous visits to the household by the CHVs. The respondents included: 1) household heads who responded to questions on household characteristics and amenities and registration of household members, and 2) mothers who had children aged below 2 years who responded to the various questions on health services utilization from pregnancy to postnatal care and childhood illnesses.

4.3.6. Data collection

Baseline household data collection was conducted using a structured electronic questionnaire deployed on a mobile data collection application called Open Data Kit (ODK). The questionnaire was piloted before use to assess its practicability and changes were made where necessary. Data collectors underwent an intensive training which focused on the purpose of the baseline survey, how to conduct household interviews, informed consent process, fieldwork logistics, data confidentiality and use of the electronic application including saving complete and incomplete questionnaires and syncing of the data to the server among others. Mock sessions were also conducted with the data collectors during the training. Data collection in Bomet, Kericho, Migori, Nakuru and Siaya was done between August 2016 and November 2016 while data collection in Embu, Kirinyaga, Meru and Nairobi County was done between January 2017 and February 2017.

4.3.7. Data Management and Statistical analysis

Data collected on interviewer's devices were automatically uploaded to a secure, dedicated server, which was checked by the researcher for completeness and consistency. Different data modules were later merged using automatically generated unique identifiers for analysis. Data analysis was performed using STATA 14 (Stata Statistical Software: Release 14. College Station, TX: StataCorp LP). Descriptive statistics of percentage and frequency were used to summarize data, while Chi square test was used to assess whether distribution of categorical variables differed between intervention and comparison at baseline; significance was determined at 5% level (p<0.05).

4.3.8. Ethical consideration

Participation in the study was voluntary. Informed consent process detailing the risk, benefits and confidentiality of information collected was provided to the eligible participants. The study received ethical approval from the Ethics and Research Committee at Strathmore University, Nairobi, Kenya. In addition, permission to conduct the study was sought at the county, sub-county and community level in the different study areas.

4.4. Results

A total of 3735 households across the nine counties participated in the study of which 48.1% were from control sites and 51.9% were from intervention sites. Of those with complete information on household heads, 84.16% (2909) were male headed while 15.85% 548 were female headed households (Table 1).

Household head	Control	Intervention	Total (%)	(P-value)
characteristics	N=1637	N=1822	N=3459*	
Gender				0.096
Male	1358 (83.06)	1551 (85.13)	2909 (84.16)	
Female	277 (16.94)	271 (14.87)	548 (15.85)	
Marital status (n=3456)				0.046
Single	188 (11.50)	186 (10.21)	374 (10.82)	
Married/currently in union	1356 (82.94)	1561 (85.72)	2917 (84.40)	
Widow/widower/divorced	91 (5.57)	74 (4.06)	165 (4.77)	
Highest level of education				0.095
No education	47 (2.87)	81 (4.45)	128 (3.70)	
Primary	745 (45.51)	923 (46.13)	1604 (46.24)	
Secondary/post primary	589 (35.98)	610 (33.48)	1199 (34.66)	
College & University	239 (14.60)	262 (14.38)	501 (14.48)	
Others	17 (1.04)	16 (0.88)	33 (0.95)	
Type of Occupation				< 0.001
Family farm/own business	632 (38.61)	747 (41.00)	1379 (39.87)	
Agricultural paid labour	148 (9.04)	204 (11.20)	354 (10.18)	
Skilled employee	310 (18.94)	292 (16.03)	602 (17.40)	
Unskilled employee	366 (22.36)	319 (17.51)	685 (19.80)	
Unemployed	181 (11.06)	260 (14.27)	441 (12.75)	

Table 1: A summary of the socio-demographic characteristics of the respondents

*276 households had no information on household head

Of the households sampled in the intervention and control sites, we observed that a majority had improved water source (n=2396; 64.15%), while only 1.04% (n=39) of the households did not have any form of toilet facilities. Overall, we noted a high mobile phone penetration across all the households surveyed (n=3361; 89.99%). However, households in the control sites had a higher mobile penetration (n=1655; 92.05%) compared to the households in the intervention

(n=1706; 88.07%), this difference was statistically significant (p<0.001). Table 2 shows further details on household characteristics.

Household characteristics	Control	Intervention	Total (%)	P value
	(48.1%) N=1798	(51.9%) N=1937	N=3735	
Time to water source				0.832
Water on premises	444 (24.69)	460 (23.75)	904 (24.2)	
< 30 minutes	1057 (58.79)	1151 (59.42)	2208 (59.12)	
30 minutes - 1 hr.	256 (14.24)	272 (14.04)	528 (14.14)	
>1 hour	30 (1.67)	41 (2.21)	71 (1.9)	
Water source				0.048
Improved source	1190 (66.18)	1206 (62.26)	2396 (64.15)	
Unimproved source	595 (33.09)	714 (36.86)	1309 (35.05)	
Others	5 (0.28)	3 (0.15)	8 (0.21)	
Missing	8 (0.44)	14 (0.72)	22 (0.59)	
Treated drinking water				
Yes	1008 (56.06)	977 (50.44)	1985 (53)	0.001
No	790 (43.94)	960 (49.56)	1750 (46.85)	
Toilet facility				<0.001
Improved toilet	1743 (96.94)	1905 (98.35)	3648 (97.675)	
Unimproved toilet	37 (2.06)	11 (0.57)	48 (1.29)	
No toilet facility	10 (0.56)	7 (0.36)	17 (0.46)	
Missing	8 (0.44)	14 (0.72)	22 (0.59)	
Propotion who own				
Land	1,248 (69.41)	1,376 (71.04)	2,624 (70.25)	0.420
Electricity	683 (37.99)	769 (39.70)	1452 (38.88)	0.231
Television	634 (35.26)	733 (37.84)	1367 (36.60)	0.078
Mobile phone	1655 (92.05)	1706 (88.07)	3361 (89.99)	<0.001
Motorcycle	303 (16.85)	334 (17.24)	637 (17.05)	0.613
Bicycle	270 (15.02)	308 (15.90)	578 (15.4)	0.436
Health Insurance	428 (23.80)	434 (22.41)	862 (23.08)	0.311

 Table 2: Comparison of household characteristics at baseline

Of the households surveyed, (n=3611; 96.68%) mothers reported having attended ANC clinics for their last pregnancy during the last two years as shown in figure 1.



Figure 1: Utilization of antenatal care services in the control and intervention sites

Only 21.55% of the mothers reported having their first ANC visit during the first 12 weeks of their last pregnancy. We also observed a high prevalence of services provided during ANC visits in both the intervention and control sites as shown in figure 2.



Figure 2: Services provided during antenatal care visit

*=P<0.05

In terms of birth prepared during the last pregnancy in the last 24 months prior to the interview, we found that respondents in both the control and intervention sites were moderately prepared. We observed a statistically significant difference between the respondents in the two sites in terms saving money for the delivery or emergency, identifying a nearby facility for the delivery and also selecting a birth companion as outlined in table 3.

	Control (%)	Intervention (%)	Total (%)	P value
	N=1798	N=1937	N=3735	
Birth Preparedness				
Saved money	1172(65.18)	1360(70.21)	2532(67.79)	0.005
Arranged transport	1035(57.56)	1116(57.61)	2151(57.59)	0.759
Identified birth companion	1008(56.06)	1162(59.99)	2170(58.1)	0.050
Identified place of delivery	1166(64.85)	1344(69.39)	2510(67.2)	0.006

Table 3: Comparing birth preparedness arrangement steps taken for the last delivery

From this study, we observed a contraceptive use prevalence of 67.71% (n=2529). The most commonly used form of contraceptives was the injectable as shown in figure 3.



Figure 3: Use of contraceptive methods among the respondents

*IUD = Intrauterine device and Norplant refers to Levonorgestrel

Overall, the most frequently identified pregnancy danger sign was heavy bleeding while in the newborn, poor feeding/suckling was the most frequently identified danger sign by the respondents. There was statistically significant difference in the knowledge of the danger signs,

with the intervention site seeming to have better knowledge of the same when compared to the control sites (Table 4).

	Control (%)	Intervention (%)	Total (%)	P value	
	N=1798	N=1937	N=3735		
Proportion mentioning different	Proportion mentioning different danger signs after delivery				
Heavy bleeding	677(37.65)	1033(53.33)	1710(45.78)	0.000	
Fast or Difficult breathing	198(11.01)	397(20.50)	595(15.93)	0.000	
Fever	544(30.26)	815(42.08)	1359(36.39)	0.000	
Headache/Blurred vision	343(19.08)	534(27.57)	877(23.48)	0.000	
Convulsions or loss of	195(10.85)	293(15.13)	488(13.07)	0.000	
consciousness					
Foul Smelling discharge from	129(7.17)	140(7.23)	269(7.2)	0.950	
the					
Proportion of mothers mentioning different newborn danger signs					
Baby looks unwell	603(33.54)	579(29.89)	1182(31.65)	0.017	
Poor suckling or feeding	793(44.10)	893(46.10)	1686(45.14)	0.220	
Convulsions	242(13.46)	358(18.48)	600(16.06)	0.000	
Fever	790(43.94)	829(42.80)	1619(43.35)	0.483	
Fast / difficult breathing	259(14.40)	358(18.48)	617(16.52)	0.001	
Baby feels cold	161(8.95)	190(9.81)	351(9.4)	0.371	
Baby too small / born too	101(5.62)	135(6.97)	236(6.32)	0.090	
early					
Yellow palms / soles	186(10.34)	178(9.19)	364(9.75)	0.234	
Swollen abdomen	81(4.51)	110(5.68)	191(5.11)	0.104	
Unconscious	85(4.73)	94(4.85)	179(4.79)	0.858	
Pus or Redness of the	246(13.68)	288(14.87)	534(14.3)	0.301	
umbilical chords					

control sites (Table 4).

Out of the households surveyed, 11.49% (n=429) of the mothers reported having a child below 5 years of age with diarrhea within two weeks prior to the survey; of these, more than half (69.93%) sought treatment for diarrhea. Similarly, a small proportion of the respondents reported their child suffering from respiratory tract infection (RTI), almost 80% of these reported having sought treatment for the illness as shown in table 5.

	Control (%)	Intervention (%)	Total (%)	P value
	N=1798	N=1937	N=3735	
RTI previous 2 weeks	93(5.17)	127(6.56)	220(5.89)	0.160
Treatment sort for RTI	74(79.57)	96(75.59)	170(77.27)	0.158
Diarrhoea Previous 2	231(12.85)	198(10.22)	429(11.49)	0.089
weeks				
Sort treatment for	167(72.29)	133(67.17)	300(69.93)	0.022
diarrhoea				

 Table 5: Comparison of households reporting childhood illness among children below

 five years and use of health services for the same by group

In this study, less than half, 26.29% of the respondents reported having ever been visited by a CHW for health promotion purpose. Of those households visited by the CHVs, 27.59% were located in the control while 25.09% were located in the intervention sites and the difference between the intervention and control sites was not statistically significant. (p=0.212)

 Table 6: Comparison of households reporting visits by community health volunteer

	Control (%)	Intervention (%)	Total (%)	P value
	N=1798	N=1937	N=3735	
Visit by CHV				0.212
Yes	496(27.59)	486(25.09)	982(26.29)	
No	1291(71.80)	1437(74.19)	2728(73.04)	
Missing	11(0.61)	14(0.72)	25(0.67)	

4.5. Discussion

The main purpose of these analyses described in this paper was to provide information on specific indicators of maternal and child health services utilization, household and community characteristics to be used to monitor the progress of the CHW program implemented through a private-public partnership.

ANC is important as it helps to identify any negative pregnancy outcomes, especially when it is sought early enough during pregnancy. The WHO recommends that pregnant mothers should attend ANC at least four times during their pregnancy [12]. We found that 97% of the mothers who were interviewed had attended at least one ANC visit. This is very similar to the KDHS of 2014, which reported ANC attendance of 96%. The number of mothers attending at least 4 ANC visits during their pregnancy was slightly higher in our study (62%) compared to the

proportion reported in the KDHS 2014 (48%). We also observed a higher proportion of mothers reporting having skilled birth attendant for the last pregnancy in the previous 2 years (91%), compared to the national average of 61% [9]. The difference between intervention and control sites in ANC attendance and number of ANC visits was not statistically significant.

All the antenatal components had a high prevalence in both control and intervention sites. The majority of respondents went through HIV counseling and testing (94%) and were counseled on signs of complications during pregnancy (74%). Birth preparedness has been shown to be an important predicator of the place of delivery in that mothers who are well prepared are more likely to deliver at a health facility under a skilled attendant[5]. In this study, 34% of the respondents had not saved funds to cater for an emergency, 42% had not made advance transport arrangements in case of an emergency, 42% had not identified a birth companion and another 23% had not identified a facility where to deliver and were therefore not adequately prepared to reduce delays in seeking care in case of an emergency. This finding has implications for CHW programs or other health education programs at the community level as well as education during ANC at the facility level in that they need to encourage and educate mothers on BPCR. A significant proportion, 25% of maternal of deaths occur during pregnancy and therefore it is important for pregnant mothers to be able to identify danger signs during pregnancy in order to avoid delay in deciding to seek appropriate care[8]. Knowledge on common danger signs for mother and newborn after delivery was low in both the intervention and control sites and differences were statistically significant. The most common danger signs identified for the mother after delivery were heavy bleeding (46%) and fever (36%). On the other hand, poor suckling or feeding (45%) and fever (43%) were the most identified danger sign for the newborn by the mothers. A similar study conducted in Uganda [6] showed very low knowledge levels on danger signs for both mother and newborn. This was an interesting finding in our study given the high prevalence of ANC attendance and brings to question on the quality of ANC education provided to the mothers.

Of the mothers interviewed, 11% reported having a child with diarrhea two weeks prior to the survey. This rate is slightly lower than the national average of 15% reported in KDHS of 2014 [9]. Of the mothers reporting diarrhea, 69.93 % sought care for the children and the difference in seeking care for diarrhea when comparing intervention and control sites was statistically significant. About 6% of the mothers reported having a child suffering from respiratory tract infection two weeks prior to survey and out of these, 77% sought care for the illness. This proportion is lower than the national average of 9% of those seeking care in case a child has

RTI [9]. We also observed a low prevalence of household visitations by the CHVs as reported by the respondents; this observation was similar across the intervention 25% and the control sites 28% respectively. The main implementers of the community health strategy in Kenya at the household level are the CHVs and perform tasks related to disease prevention and control, family health services and hygiene and environmental sanitation [37]. This finding further suggests challenges in the implementation of the CHS specifically household visitations by the CHVs and a need for further research to tease out the barriers to the household visitations.

A key limitation for this study is the reliance on self-reported data as well as recall bias since mothers had to provide information relating to their last pregnancy during the last two years prior to the study.

4.6. Conclusion

In conclusion, although we report a high prevalence of at least one ANC attendance, we observed low knowledge on danger sign during pregnancy and for newborns as well as poor birth preparedness among the respondents. Our findings have implications for maternal child health initiatives in Kenya and suggest the need to leverage community based health education programs to educate pregnant women birth preparedness and complications readiness and thus reduce maternal and neonatal mortality rates in the country.

4.7. References

- Tunçalp Ö, Were W, MacLennan C, Oladapo O, Gülmezoglu A, Bahl R, Daelmans B, Mathai M, Say L, Kristensen F: Quality of care for pregnant women and newborns—the WHO vision. *BJOG: an international journal of obstetrics & gynaecology* 2015, 122(8):1045-1049.
- 2. Achia TN, Mageto LE: Individual and contextual determinants of adequate maternal health care services in Kenya. *Women & health* 2015, **55**(2):203-226.
- 3. WHO: Making pregnancy safer: the critical role of the skilled attendant: a joint statement by WHO, ICM and FIGO. In: *World Health Organization: Geneva.* 2004.
- 4. Mgawadere F, Unkels R, Kazembe A, van den Broek N: Factors associated with maternal mortality in Malawi: application of the three delays model. *BMC* pregnancy and childbirth 2017, **17**(1):219.
- 5. Belda SS, Gebremariam MB: **Birth preparedness, complication readiness and other determinants of place of delivery among mothers in Goba District, Bale Zone, South East Ethiopia**. *BMC pregnancy and childbirth* 2016, **16**(1):73.
- 6. Kabakyenga JK, Östergren P-O, Turyakira E, Pettersson KO: **Knowledge of obstetric danger signs and birth preparedness practices among women in rural Uganda**. *Reproductive health* 2011, **8**(1):33.
- 7. Magoma M, Requejo J, Campbell OM, Cousens S, Filippi V: **High ANC coverage** and low skilled attendance in a rural Tanzanian district: a case for implementing a birth plan intervention. *BMC pregnancy and childbirth* 2010, **10**(1):13.
- 8. Mutiso S, Qureshi Z, Kinuthia J: **Birth preparedness among antenatal clients**. *East African medical journal* 2008, **85**(6):275-283.
- 9. KNBS: Kenya Demographic Health Survey 2014: Key Indicators. In: *Kenya National Bureau of Statistics (KNBS) and ICF Macro.* Calverton, Maryland: KNBS and ICF Macro; 2014.
- 10. GOK: **Kenya reproductive, maternal, newborn, child and adolescent health Investment framework**. In.: Ministry of Health; 2016.
- 11. Fleming E, Gaines J, O'Connor K, Ogutu J, Atieno N, Atieno S, Kamb ML, Quick R: Can incentives reduce the barriers to use of antenatal care and delivery services in Kenya? Results of a qualitative inquiry. *Journal of health care for the poor and underserved* 2017, **28**(1):153.
- 12. WHO WHO: **The World Health Report 2005: Make every mother and child count**: World Health Organization; 2005.
- Chorongo D, Okinda FM, Kariuki EJ, Mulewa E, Ibinda F, Muhula S, Kimathi G, Muga R: Factors influencing the utilization of focused antenatal care services in Malindi and Magarini sub-counties of Kilifi county, Kenya. *The Pan African medical journal* 2016, 25(Suppl 2).
- 14. Speybroeck N, Kinfu Y, Dal Poz MR, Evans DB: **Reassessing the relationship between human resources for health, intervention coverage and health outcomes**. *Background paper prepared for the World Health Report* 2006, **2006**.
- 15. Anand S, Bärnighausen T: **Human resources and health outcomes: cross-country** econometric study. *The Lancet* 2004, **364**(9445):1603-1609.
- 16. Anand S, Bärnighausen T: **Health workers and vaccination coverage in developing countries: an econometric analysis**. *The Lancet* 2007, **369**(9569):1277-1285.
- 17. WHO WHO: **The world health report 2006: working together for health**: World Health Organization; 2006.
- 18. Horton R, Das P: **Universal health coverage: not why, what, or when—but how?** *The Lancet* 2015, **385**(9974):1156-1157.

- 19. Alkema L, Chou D, Hogan D, Zhang S, Moller A-B, Gemmill A, Fat DM, Boerma T, Temmerman M, Mathers C: Global, regional, and national levels and trends in maternal mortality between 1990 and 2015, with scenario-based projections to 2030: a systematic analysis by the UN Maternal Mortality Estimation Inter-Agency Group. *The Lancet* 2016, 387(10017):462-474.
- 20. Truth AU: **No Health without a workforce**. *World Health Organisation (WHO) Report* 2013.
- 21. Bangdiwala SI, Fonn S, Okoye O, Tollman S: Workforce resources for health in developing countries. *Public Health Reviews* 2010, **32**(1):296.
- 22. Mumbo HM, Ochieng BM, Kaseje DO, Aila FO, Odera O, Ayugi ME: **Uptake of task shifting as a community strategy in Kenya**. *European Scientific Journal, ESJ* 2013, **9**(14).
- 23. Celletti F, Wright A, Palen J, Frehywot S, Markus A, Greenberg A, de Aguiar RAT, Campos F, Buch E, Samb B: Can the deployment of community health workers for the delivery of HIV services represent an effective and sustainable response to health workforce shortages? Results of a multicountry study. *Aids* 2010, 24:S45-S57.
- 24. WHO: Declaration of Alma Ata: International conference on primary health care. In: Alma Ata, USSR: International Conference on Primary Health Care: 1978; 1978.
- 25. Jerome J, Ivers LC: **Community health workers in health systems strengthening: a qualitative evaluation from rural Haiti**. *AIDS (London, England)* 2010, **24**(Suppl 1):S67.
- 26. Gilmore B, McAuliffe E: **Effectiveness of community health workers delivering preventive interventions for maternal and child health in low-and middle-income countries: a systematic review**. *BMC Public Health* 2013, **13**(1):847.
- 27. Baatiema L, Sumah AM, Tang PN, Ganle JK: **Community health workers in Ghana: the need for greater policy attention**. *BMJ global health* 2016, 1(4):e000141.
- 28. Luckow PW, Kenny A, White E, Ballard M, Dorr L, Erlandson K, Grant B, Johnson A, Lorenzen B, Mukherjee S: **Implementation research on community health workers' provision of maternal and child health services in rural Liberia**. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization* 2017, **95**(2):113.
- 29. Lewin S, Munabi-Babigumira S, Glenton C, Daniels K, Bosch-Capblanch X, van Wyk BE, Odgaard-Jensen J, Johansen M, Aja GN, Zwarenstein M: Lay health workers in primary and community health care for maternal and child health and the management of infectious diseases. *The Cochrane Library* 2010.
- 30. Viswanathan M, Kraschnewski J, Nishikawa B, Morgan LC, Thieda P, Honeycutt A, Lohr KN, Jonas D: **Outcomes of community health worker interventions**. *Evidence report/technology assessment* 2009, **181**:1-144.
- 31. Baron RC, Rimer BK, Breslow RA, Coates RJ, Kerner J, Melillo S, Habarta N, Kalra GP, Chattopadhyay S, Wilson KM: **Client-directed interventions to increase community demand for breast, cervical, and colorectal cancer screening: a systematic review**. *American journal of preventive medicine* 2008, **35**(1):S34-S55.
- 32. McCollum R, Gomez W, Theobald S, Taegtmeyer M: **How equitable are** community health worker programmes and which programme features influence equity of community health worker services? A systematic review. *BMC public health* 2016, **16**(1):419.

- 33. Mireku M, Kiruki M, McCollum R, Taegtmeyer M, De Koning K, Otiso L: **Context analysis: close-to-community health service providers in Kenya**. *Nairobi: Reachout Consortium* 2014.
- 34. Wangalwa G, Cudjoe B, Wamalwa D, Machira Y, Ofware P, Ndirangu M, Ilako F: Effectiveness of Kenya's Community Health Strategy in delivering communitybased maternal and newborn health care in Busia County, Kenya: nonrandomized pre-test post test study. The Pan African medical journal 2012, 13(Suppl 1).
- 35. McCollum R, Otiso L, Mireku M, Theobald S, de Koning K, Hussein S, Taegtmeyer M: **Exploring perceptions of community health policy in Kenya and identifying implications for policy change**. *Health policy and planning* 2015, **31**(1):10-20.
- 36. Perry H, Crigler L: **Developing and strengthening community health worker programs at scale**. A reference guide and case studies for program managers and policymakers MCHIP, USAID 2013.
- 37. Sander LD, Holtzman D, Pauly M, Cohn J: **Time savings-realized and potentialand fair compensation for community health workers in Kenyan health facilities: a mixed-methods approach**. *Human resources for health* 2015, **13**(1):6.
- 38. Cohen J: Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences . Hilsdale. *NJ: Lawrence Earlbaum Associates* 1988, **2**.
- 39. Demidenko E: Sample size and optimal design for logistic regression with binary interaction. *Statistics in medicine* 2008, **27**(1):36-46.

5. Discussion and conclusion

Countries across the globe are investing in community health worker (CHW) programs as a key strategy for provide equitable access to health services for all people. Community health workers have been shown to be effective in extending the reach of inadequate health care systems in low and middle income countries as well as improving health outcomes. Despite the challenges these programs encounter, the global shortage of health workers implies the need for an alternative cadre. This means the implementation of CHW programs should go hand in hand with implementation research in order to document lessons learned and thus inform investment in CHW initiatives.

This thesis aimed at evaluating a community based health education program with had an aim of preventing water sanitation and hygiene related diseases. It was also the aim of this thesis to inform programming of a CHW program implemented through a public private partnership by assessing utilization of maternal child health services and health seeking behaviour for diabetes and hypertension and opportunities for CHW activities. As whole the thesis builds on existing evidence which shows the effectiveness of CHW in disease prevention and the need for health promotion and education of communities.

The findings in chapter two show that community based health education is effective in reducing diarrhea disease and respiratory infections. However the health education should also be accompanied by resources that are needed to support the healthy behaviour that is taught. We found that participants, who reported residing in areas with water improvement initiates such as boreholes and piped water to the compound, also reported a reduced risk of diarrhea or respiratory tract infections (RTI). This further supports the argument that health education should be accompanied by provision of resources and infrastructure necessary to sustain the behaviour. Although there was a strong association between attending the education sessions and having a reduced risk of diarrhea or RTI, the study design used in this study is not appropriate for claiming causation. The choice to use the design was informed by the fact that the program had already been implemented at the point of deciding to evaluate it.

Key findings in chapter three have implications for primary health care in Kenya. From the study, we confirmed that majority of diagnosis for chronic conditions are made in the public facilities and the patients choose to continue seeking care in the public facilities. There is therefore a need to ensure public facilities are well resourced. However we observed that most of the diagnoses for diabetes were made in the private sector. This is likely due to the inhibiting

cost of diagnosing materials and could be counterproductive for initiatives raising awareness on diabetes as people accessing diagnosis at a public health facility is not guarantee. In this study we found a high proportion of diabetic and hypertensive patients having their medicaments at home. This differs with findings of Kenya Stepwise Survey for noncommunicable diseases which found a lower prevalence. Evidence from this study on reasons for dropping out of treatment for chronic disease suggests the need for close to community outreach/education on the chronic nature of diabetes and hypertension and the need for adherence to treatment.

Similar to chapter three, the key findings in chapter four have implications for the community health worker program as well as similar initiatives in general. The high prevalence of at least one ANC attendance and the low knowledge on danger signs in pregnancy and newborns indicates a missed opportunity to educate the pregnant mothers at every encounter with the health care providers. A recommendation for policy makers would be to tailor each ANC visit in a way that addresses crucial information on birth preparedness and complications readiness at each visit. The lessons could then be reinforced at the community level by the community health workers. We also observed inadequate birth preparedness and complications readiness which would lead to delay in deciding to seek care in case of an emergency and delay in getting to the health facility in the event of an emergency. Patient education should not just happen at the health facility level; instead there is an opportunity for community health workers to reinforce the lessons provided during ANC at the facility level.

In chapter three and chapter four we observed low health insurance coverage in the households surveyed. This could impact on appropriate health seeking behaviour since even the reduced fees at the government hospital would be out of pocket expense. This has implications for achieving universal health coverage without exposing the patients to financial ruin. Also in the last two studies, there was low coverage of households by community health volunteer. Only about a third of the households reported ever being visited at home by community health volunteers for service delivery. This has a huge bearing on the community health worker program implemented in this partnership. Further research is needed alongside program implementation to understand the barriers and facilitators of household visitation by community health volunteers and ways to address them in a sustainable way.

In conclusion, this PhD thesis contributes to the national and global discussion on investing and scaling up community health worker initiates. It provides evidence on the effectiveness of the community health worker initiatives in disease prevention. It also highlights gaps that close to community initiatives and programs can fill by improving knowledge levels of the people as well as encouraging uptake of health services.

Miriam Njoki Karinja, Epidemiologist

Centre for Epidemiological Modelling and Analysis Nairobi Kenya Mobile: +254 714 842280 and/or +447380643157 Email:mkarinja2001@yahoo.com www.linkedin.com/in/miriam-karinja-46287725

Professional Preparation:

Swiss Tropical Public Health Institute,	Epidemiology	PhD	2019
University of Basel, Switzerland			
Stellenbosch University, Cape Town South Clinical Epidemiology MSc 2014			
Africa			
Stellenbosch University, Cape Town South	HIV/AIDS Management	PgDip	2012
Nelson Mandela Metropolitan University, Port	Biochemistry and Microbiology	BSc	2010
Elizabeth South Africa			

A. Personal Statement

A Clinical Epidemiologist, with over ten years' experience relevant to both industry and academia. This includes local and international work experience in diverse fields including quality control, Microbiology, observational studies, community health, implementation research, clinical trials, project management and leading a research team. I am committed to using scientifically valid methods and apply this to explore questions concerning developing world health and health care systems.

02/2015 - 04/2019:

04/2014 - 12/2014:

Doctoral Researcher/Project Management

Swiss Tropical and Public Health Institute

- Designing and implementation of cross-sectional studies focusing on Maternal and Child Health and Health seeking behaviour for diabetes mellitus and hypertension among diagnosed individuals across nine counties in Kenya
- Collaborated and managed relationships with stakeholders in different Countries and regions within Kenya
- Recruitment, training and supervision of field workers and leading research team
- Data analysis using STATA and interpretation of results
- Monitoring project budget and Ensuring project was delivered on-time, within scope and within budget
- Authoring reports and publications for peer-reviewed journals
- Presentation of findings at local and international forums

Next Generation Scientist Research Fellow-Novartis, Basel, Switzerland

- Design and implementation of epidemiological studies in rural Kenya relating to community health education and evaluation of community based health interventions.
- Study design and epidemiology expertise to ensure proper methodology relevant to local conditions in consultation with industry (Novartis) and academia (Strathmore, Stellenbosch University) experts.

• Proposal development, submission and follow-up interactions with Institutional Review Board

05/2011 – 03/2014: Laboratory Researcher

Task Applied Science, Cape Town, South Africa - A Clinical Research Organization conducting clinical trials for novel tuberculosis treatment

- Management of patient samples including specimen processing, slide preparation, slide staining, Microscopy reading, MGIT culturing, reading culture results, Gene Xpert testing, capturing results on database, QC checking results, autoclaving and completing temperature & apparatus usage logs.
- Development and execution of clinical research studies and programs.
- Routine data verification and quality control, ensuring data integrity and consistency with prescribed study protocol.
- Routine data analysis and interpretation using data analysis programs.

06/2013 – 08/2013: Next Generation Scientist Intern - Novartis, Basel, Switzerland

- As part of the global clinical epidemiology team successfully developed an epidemiological study to evaluate the outcome of a complex healthcare intervention (community health education program).
- Participated and conducted sessions on the various drug development topics including drug safety and regulation, clinical trials, ethics and corporate social responsibility and health systems.
- Facilitated other departmental activities such as providing support for Epidemiology colleagues for various literature reviews, searching for relevant information and drafting a document summarizing the identified information.
- Attended relevant Epidemiology internal educational sessions and staff meetings.

08/2008 – 07/2009 Microbiologist/GMP Technologist

Coca Cola Sabco, Port Elizabeth, South Africa

- Microbiological sampling and analysis using membrane filter technique as per CCSabco quality management system requirements.
- Root cause analysis in the event of non-conformances and Perform quarterly good manufacturing practice audits and active involvement in the HACCP team.

05/2007 - 07/2008	Microbiologist - Valor Fruit Processors, Port Elizabeth, South Africa
03/2006 - 05/2007	Quality controller Coca Cola Sabco, Port Elizabeth, South Africa

B. Skills

Research skills Study design Implementation research Data analysis and interpretation STATA

R for data analysis Written and oral communication skills Analytical skills Project management Leadership and team work Evidence based medicine Collaboration Budgeting Monitoring and Evaluation Mentoring

C. Honours and Awards

2015: PhD Scholarship, Novartis Pharma, Basel, Switzerland 2014: Research Fellowship Grant, Novartis Pharma, Basel, Switzerland 2013: Masters Scholarship, Stellenbosch University

D. Publications

- **Karinja, M.**, Schlienger, R., Pillai, G.C., Esterhuizen, T., Onyango, E., Gitau, A. and Ogutu, B., 2020. Risk reduction of diarrhea and respiratory infections following a community health education program-a facility-based case-control study in rural parts of Kenya. BMC Public Health, 20(1), pp.1-9.
- Karinja, M., Pillai, G., Schlienger, R., Tanner, M. and Ogutu, B., 2019. Care-Seeking Dynamics among Patients with Diabetes Mellitus and Hypertension in Selected Rural Settings in Kenya. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 16(11), p.2016.
- Karinja, M., Pillai, G., Schlienger, R., Tanner, M. and Ogutu, B., 2019. Evaluation of a Community Health Worker Maternal Child Health Improvement Program- Results from a Baseline Survey– Under 1st review by Global Health Action Journal
- Friedrich, S.O., Kolwijck, E., **Karinja, M.N.**, van der Merwe, L. and Diacon, A.H., 2019. Quantification of viable bacterial load in artificial sputum spiked with Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Tuberculosis.
- Kayigire, X.A., Friedrich, S.O., **Karinja, M.N.**, van der Merwe, L., Martinson, N.A. and Diacon, A.H., 2016. Propidium monoazide and Xpert MTB/RIF to quantify Mycobacterium tuberculosis cells.
- Karinja, M.N., Esterhuizen, T.M, Friedrich, S.O., & Diacon, A.H. (2015). Sputum volume and mycobacterial load during the first two weeks of anti-tuberculosis treatment. Journal of Clinical Microbiology
- Kolwijck, E., Friedrich, S. O., **Karinja, M. N.,** Ingen, J., Warren, R. M., & Diacon, A. H. (2013). Early stationary phase culture supernatant accelerates growth of sputum cultures collected after initiation of antituberculosis treatment. Clinical Microbiology and Infection

E. Oral Presentations

• 3rd National Universal Health Coverage Conference, Kisumu Kenya, May 2019. Strengthening Community Health Strategy in Kenya through Public Private Partnership –Implementation Research

- Symposium on Community Health Workers and their contribution towards the Sustainable Development Goals, February 2017. Functionality assessment of selected community health units across ten Counties in Kenya
- Research Symposium, Strathmore University, Nairobi Kenya, November 2017. The effect of community health workers on utilization of health services and Improving health outcomes in five rural communities in Kenya a mixed methods approach
- Kenya Paediatrics Association Annual Conference, Kisumu Kenya, April 2017. Community Health Workers and Health Seeking Behaviour for Childhood illnesses.
- Clinical Trials Management Workshop, Strathmore University, Nairobi Kenya, May 2016. Served as lead trainer on Reporting and Publishing of Clinical Research, Manuscript Writing
- Next Generation Scientist (NGS) Research Symposium on August 26, 2014. Karinja, M.N. NGS Fellow Design and Execution of Epidemiology studies in rural Kenya.

F. Poster Presentation

- Science and Innovation Day, Novartis Pharma, Basel, February 2015. Miriam Karinja, Raymond Schlienger, Anthony Gitau, Surya Narayan, Bernhards Ogutu, Colin Pillai. Design and execution of a case control study in rural Kenya using mhealth methodology for data collection
- World Congress of Basic and Clinical Pharmacology, Jul 2014. Karinja, M.N., Esterhuizen, T.M, Friedrich, S.O. Sputum volume and mycobacterial load as candidate bio markers for treatment effectiveness in early bactericidal activity studies on patients with pulmonary tuberculosis.
- Poster presented at the Next Generation Scientist Research day, August 2013, Basel, Switzerland. Karinja, M.N., Schlienger, R., Martin, D., & Gitau, A. Reduction in risk of Diarrhoea and Respiratory Infections following a Community Hygiene Education Program in a rural Kenyan setting: A Case Control Study